County Council ,ig,;gf

Highways Committee

Date Friday 21 March 2014
Time 11.15 am.

Venue St. Helen's Auckland Parish Church, Bishop Auckland, DL14
9EN

Business

1. Apologies for Absence
2.  Substitute Members
3. Declarations of interest, if any

4. Village Green Registration West Auckland: Fleece & Nursery - Report
of Head of Legal and Democratic Services (Pages 1 - 140)

5. Such other business, as in the opinion of the Chairman of the meeting,
is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

Colette Longbottom
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
13 March 2014

To:  The Members of the Highways Committee

Councillor G Bleasdale (Chairman)
Councillor C Kay (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors J Allen, B Armstrong, D Bell, H Bennett, | Geldard,
O Gunn, D Hall, D Hicks, K Hopper, O Milburn, S Morrison,

R Ormerod, J Robinson, J Rowlandson, P Stradling, R Todd,
J Turnbull, M Wilkes and R Young

Contact: Michael Turnbuli Tel: 03000 269 714




This page is intentionally left blank



Agenda Item 4
Special Highways Committee 3

21 March 2013

Village Green Registration
West Auckland: Fleece &
Nursery

Report of Colette Longbottom, Head of Legal and Democratic
Services

Introduction

1 The County Council is the commons registration authority (“the CRA”) for
Town and Village Greens under the Commons Registration Act 1965 and
the Commons Act 2006. The CRA must act impartially in its determination.

Purpose of the Report

2 To advise the Committee in determining an application (“the Application”) to
register land known as the Fleece and Nursery land (“the Land”) as town or
village green under the provisions of the Commons Act 2006. The land lies
between Front Street and the Nursery, north of the Green, in West
Auckland. The Application is made on the basis of a claimed 20 years’ user
of the Land to the date of the application for lawful sports and pastimes as
of right by a significant number of the local inhabitants.

Background

3 The clerk to West Auckland Parish Council wrote to the CRA on 21 July
2010 explaining that the Parish Council wished to seek registration of the
Land as a village green, and enclosed six letters and eight photographs
from villagers in support of their proposed application. Advice was sought
from the CRA on how to proceed. The CRA responded on 2 August 2010
enclosing the relevant forms and Defra Guidance.

4 By way of further background, the trigger for seeking to make the
application appears to have broadly been that ownership of and/or rights
over the Land were increasingly in dispute, principally between the Parish
Council and the occupiers of properties adjoining the Land, and that steps
had been taken by adjoining occupiers to prevent or discourage the use of
the Land by local inhabitants.

The Application

5 The Application was made by Sharon Hall, the clerk to the West Auckland
Parish Council (“the Applicant”). A copy of the Application and supporting
submission is attached at Appendix 1. It was accompanied by a supporting
statement, plans of the Land and 23 User Evidence Forms in support.
Those user evidence forms are summarised in table form at Appendix 2. A
further summary of the evidence given of interruptions of the use are at

Page 1



Appendix 3. They are available to view in full on file. Receipt of the
Application was acknowledged on 11 August 2011 by the CRA. Following
publication of the notice of the Application objections were lodged, and
these are attached at Appendix 4 together with further pre-inquiry
correspondence.

Due to the nature of the supporting evidence and the conflict with the
evidence provided by the objectors, the Members of this Committee were
advised that a Non-Statutory Public Inquiry would be the most appropriate
way forward to test the evidence, Members agreed to this course of action.
On the 12 July 2012 and to the appointment of a suitable experienced
independent inspector. Miss Ruth Stockley of Kings Chambers,
Manchester, a legal expert in Village Greens registration, was appointed to
hold a Public Inquiry and thereafter to provide a report with a
recommendation for consideration by this committee.

A Public Inquiry was held over 2 days on 26 and 27 June 2013. The
Inspector subsequently reported to the CRA on 13 October 2013,
recommending refusal of the Application, and a copy of her report is
attached at Appendix 5. The report was circulated to the Applicant and
other interested parties for final comment. The Applicant responded on 17
November 2013.

The Applicant subsequently approached officers with a view to supplying a
‘presentation document’ to the committee. The Applicant was advised of the
committee’s public speaking scheme allowing for oral submissions at the
meeting. They were also advised that if they wished to adduce any further
information that this would need to be supplied in advance of the
preparation of the report which they did do, attached at Appendix 6. A copy
of the Applicant’s submissions was then sent to the objectors and their
comments sought. Those comments, received on 26 February 2014, are
attached at Appendix 7. Additionally, representations have been received
from the local MP, Helen Goodman, and from Lord Foster of Bishop
Auckland. Copies of those are attached at Appendix 8.

The decision with respect to this Application rests with this committee. An
assessment of the evidence submitted by June 2013 has been undertaken
by the Inspector who has had the opportunity to hear witnesses in person
and consider all the written evidence supplied to that date. The conclusions
in the Inspector’s report should be considered by the committee. The further
information received since the Inspector's report was produced will be
considered further below.

The Law

The Commons Act 2006

10

Page 2

Land that was not registered as a village green by July 31%' 1970 can only
now gain that status through registration under the current statutory
provisions. Registration brings about general recreational rights and other
statutory protection which effectively precludes further development of the
site.



11

12

13

14

The Commons Act 2006 is the statutory regime governing village greens,
the existence of and subsequent registration of which is subject to the
fulfilment of all the relevant requirements set out in section 15 of the Act.
Registration of village greens is determined by the CRA and the process of
determination of any application made is focused on testing the evidence to
decide whether a village green has come into existence as a matter of law.

The application in question was made under section 15(1) of the Commons
Act 2006 which states that:

“‘Any person may apply to the commons registration authority to register
land... as a town or village green in a case where subsection 2... applies.”

Subsection 2 applies where:

“(a) A significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any
neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful
sports or pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years; and

(b) They continue to do so at the time of the application.”

After setting out the evidence for and against the Application in section 4 of
her Report, the Inspector set out the legal framework applying to the
Application in section 5. Members are referred to that section and in
particular to the several elements of the test for deciding whether the
Application can succeed; namely whether it has been established that:

(i) The Land comprises “land” within the meaning of the 2006 Act;

(i) The Land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes;

(i)  Such use has been for a period of not less than 20 years;

(iv)  Such use has been as of right (that is, without force, secrecy or
permission);

(v)  Such use has been by a significant number of the inhabitants of a
locality or of a neighbourhood within a locality; and

(vi)  Such use continued at the time of the Application.

These terms are explained more fully in the Inspector’'s Report. Briefly,
however:

(i) The land must be clearly defined, but there is no requirement that it
be ‘green’ or have any particular characteristics;

(i) Lawful sports and pastimes is a composite phrase denoting general
recreational use. Walking with or without dogs, children’s play,
playing games, picnicking etc. would all be included;

(i) The fulfilment of the 20 years’ continuous use must run until the date
of the application. It must be of sufficient continuity and frequency to
bring home to the reasonable landowner that recreational rights are
being asserted;

(iv)  Use ‘as of right’ means without force, stealth or permission; i.e. open
and peacable and without any licence from the owner;

(v) A ‘significant number’ is a matter of impression, meaning a number
sufficient to indicate that the land is in general use by the community.
Inhabitants of the ‘neighbourhood or locality’ must mean, for a

Page 3



neighbourhood, a community that is sufficiently cohesive and
capable of clear definition; for a locality it must mean a recognised
administrative area. Users, even the majority of them, may come
from outside the locality, but such extra-local use will not establish
village green rights; and

(vi)  For the requirement for continuous use until the application, see (iii)
above. If the use was not still continuing at the date of the
Application, then (save for where access has been prohibited by
statute, e.g. ‘foot and mouth’ restrictions) the reasons for its
cessation are irrelevant.

Burden and Standard of Proof

15

In order for an application to be successful each aspect of the requirements
of section 15(2) must be strictly proven by the Applicant. The burden of
proof is the balance of probabilities, and it lies with the Applicant to prove
the case. Therefore the Applicant must demonstrate to the satisfaction of
the committee that all the elements contained in the definition of a village
green in section 15(2) have probably been satisfied.

Application Land

16

A plan highlighting the Land to be considered for registration accompanied
the Application (see Appendix 1). This plan shows two areas of land,
joined together, lying north of the rear of the properties on Front Street,
west of the Nursery and south of the river Gaunless, excluding a parcel of
land lying directly south of the river on which formerly stood the old Mill
Cottages. That parcel was acquired by its occupier by adverse possession
in around 2008, having been fenced off from the public in around 1994.
The Inspector records her findings about the Land in section 3 of her Report
at Appendix 5 and Members are referred to that description.

Ownership

17

The Land has no known owner. It appears that a number of parties
(including the Applicant and one of the objectors, who is an adjoining
occupier) have registered cautions against first registration with the Land
Registry.

The Evidence

18

19

Page 4

The evidence, particularly the oral evidence taken at the Inquiry, is
summarised in the Inspector’'s Report. The CRA originally received 23 User
Evidence Forms in support of the Application; these are summarised by the
table at Appendix 2. The predominant uses claimed in support of the
Application were walking (with or without dogs) and children playing.

Evidence was also given of attempts to prevent or discourage the use.
These are summarised in the additional table at Appendix 3. A number of
users reported that the land had been fenced off one or two years before
the Application was made.



20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

In a supporting letter of 10 August 2011 (see Appendix 1) the Applicant
described the fencing as having been erected in May 2010 and, “although a
troublesome nuisance, has been erected for less than two years and has
never denied physical access to the open space (included in this
application)”.

The Applicant’s supporting submission also explained the history of fencing
on and nearby the Land. It appears some of the Land was fenced off in
around 1993-4. Partly that fencing was of land excluded from the
Application site (to the north and west of the Land, adjoining the river) that
has since been acquired by adverse possession. Partly the fencing was
erected by the owner of the Fleece public house in an effort to stop
vehicular access over the Land to one of the adjoining properties (no. 24
Front Street).

The Applicant’s submission then reported that since 2006 the owner of 24
Front Street had taken vehicular access through the Nursery Land with
private and commercial vehicles on a regular basis with many vehicle
movements a day, so degrading the appearance and amenity of the Land.

An objection was received from Mr. Armstrong, the (then) owner and
occupier of 24 Front Street. In it, he describes his own use of the Land
since his acquisition of 24 Front Street in 1989. He stated that since then,
he and his wife had used the land on a daily basis for grazing horses and
for vehicular access to the public highway, both to the north across the
Nursery and the south across the Fleece. A plan of the routes taken is
enclosed at Appendix 4 with Mr. Armstrong’s objection.

Mr. Armstrong stated his belief that the Land had not been used as a village
green at any time. He submitted that “the land has only been used by dog-
walkers and people using it as a short cut to the Front Street and back. The
only piece of land that was ever used for recreational purposes was near to
the river and this is now owned by Mr S D Robinson” (who had acquired the
adjoining land by adverse possession in around 2008, having fenced it off in
around 1993-4).

A further objection was received from Mrs. Joanne Cliff, who similarly stated
that the only uses for the Land since 1994 (apart from ‘private’ use by her
and her parents, Mr. & Mrs. Armstrong) had been for people to walk their
dogs and to get from the Nursery to Front Street and back.

The Applicant responded, asserting that the Land “is still used for
recreational enjoyment although the actions of Mr Armstrong’s and Mrs
Cliff's families in intermittently parking cars, vans, horse boxes and
equipment on the land, grazing horses and burning industrial waste do not
encourage community activity. Nevertheless that community activity has
never ceased.”

Responses from the objectors disputed a number of the assertions made by
the Applicant; however, these responses did not make any further
assertions about the use or otherwise of the Land for recreational purposes,
save for a statement by Mrs. Cliff that she had played on the land with her
friends.

Page 5



28 The Public Inquiry subsequently took place.
The Inspector’s Report

Assessment of Evidence

29 At the Public Inquiry the Inspector heard evidence from a total of 8 people;
4 in support of the Application and 3 in objection, with a further third party;
the evidence from these persons is set out clearly in section 4 of the
Inspector’'s Report. In addition to this, written submissions both in support
of and against the application were considered by the Inspector. However,
she set out in paragraph 4.16 that she and the CRA must bear in mind that
the written evidence was not tested by cross-examination. Particularly
where that evidence conflicted with the oral evidence given at the Inquiry,
the Inspector gave the written evidence less weight as it was not subject to
cross-examination.

Applying the Law to the Facts

30 The Inspector concluded that all of the elements of the statutory test were
satisfied, with the exception of one. She therefore recommended that the
application be refused.

Land
31 There was no dispute that the Land meets the required definition in the
2006 Act and that it was clearly defined: 6.4.

20 Year Period
32 The Inspector found that the relevant 20 year period for analysis was that
beginning in August 1991 and expiring on the date of the Application: 6.5.

Lawful Sports and Pastimes

33 The Inspector concluded that some lawful sports and pastimes had been
carried out on the Land during the relevant 20 year period: 6.9. However,
she noted that the main matter in dispute between the parties was the
extent of any qualifying recreational use on the Land: 6.8.

Locality or Neighbourhood

34 This is the area whose inhabitants will acquire recreational rights to use a
village green. Here, the Inspector found this to be the Parish Council area
of West Auckland, which is a recognised administrative area: 6.11.

Use as of Right

35 With the exception of one occasion on which permission to use the Land
was purportedly given in 2011, the Inspector found that the use of the Land
had been without force, stealth or permission. Accordingly she found that it
had been used ‘as of right’: 6.14.

Use by a Significant Number of the Inhabitants of the Locality

36 The Inspector’s analysis was to exclude from the qualifying use that use
which took place before the relevant 20 year period commenced; that use
which took place by persons from outside the locality; and that use that was
more akin to the exercise of public rights of way than the exercise of
recreational rights over a Village Green. In particular this meant excluding

Page 6



the evidence which was of such nature as to suggest that the user was
exercising a right of way over specific routes rather than exercising a
recreational right over the land generally..

37 Having discounted such use, her impression of the evidence was that a
significant amount of walking and dog walking on the land took place along
a specific linear route as a means of access from one point to another,
often using the land as a short cut , rather than recreating over the land
generally. Please see paragraph 6.19 of the Inspectors report and also
6.21.

38 The Inspector noted “significantly” that no oral evidence was given by any
witness of people exercising their dogs over the Land generally or walking
over the Land generally rather than along a specific linear route used as a
shortcut or as a means of access: 6.20. A number of the written statements
referring to walking on the Land were unspecific about whether they were
using the Land as a thoroughfare or as a more general recreational facility.
Accordingly, given that the burden of proof lies upon the Applicant, the
Inspector was unable to assume the latter, which would anyway have been
inconsistent with the oral evidence she received: 6.23.

39 That left children’s play. The Inspector found that there was a “limited
amount of evidence” of such use taking place on the Land during the
relevant period by the local inhabitants: 6.24. She noted the evidence of 3
people that children no longer play on the Land since traffic started to use it
in around 2006: 6.24. She found that such use was “extremely limited”
during the last 5 years of the relevant 20 year period, since 2006 when the
Land has been used regularly by traffic: 6.26.

40 The Inspector noted evidence that such use had not “entirely” ceased: 6.26.
She also considered that other recreational uses of the Land had been
“relatively limited” in nature: 6.27, although had “inevitably decreased” since
2006 due to the regular use of the Land for traffic. She concluded that, in
her view, that the qualifying use of the Land during the relevant 20 year
period had been sporadic and insufficient to demonstrate the assertion of
recreational rights over the Land, consequently she found as follows;

it has not been established on the balance of probabilities that the
qualifying use of the Land has taken place to such an extent and with
such a degree of frequency throughout the entire relevant 20 year
period to demonstrate to a reasonable landowner that recreational
rights were being asserted over the Land.

41 The inspector accordingly found that the Land had not been used by a
significant number of the inhabitants of West Auckland for lawful sports and
pastimes throughout the relevant 20 year period: 6.28.

Continuation of Use

42 Although the Inspector did not find that the Land had been used to a
sufficient extent and continuity to have created a village green, she
concluded that such recreational use as did exist continued up until the date
of the Application: 6.29.

Page 7



Inspector’s Conclusions and Recommendation
43 The Inspector therefore concluded that the Land ought not to be registered
as a village green. She so recommended, on the specific grounds that:

(i) the Applicant has failed to establish that the Application Land has
been used for lawful sports and pastimes to a sufficient extent and
continuity throughout the relevant 20 year period to have created a
town or village green; and

(i) the Applicant has accordingly failed to establish that the use of the
Application Land has been by a significant number of the inhabitants
of any qualifying locality or neighbourhood within a locality
throughout the relevant 20 year period.

Post-Inquiry Correspondence
44 A copy of the Inspector's Report was sent to the Applicant and to the
objectors. The Applicant responded by letter dated 17 November 2013
(Appendix 6). The letter made a number of points, not all of which are
relevant to the committee’s determination of the Application. In relation to
the Inspector’s findings about insufficient extent and continuity of use, the
letter stated:
[The Inspector] acknowledges that the PC had demonstrated that the
land was well used for decades from the 1970s, when it was
maintained by the local authority, up to 1994, that is for the first three
years of the relevant period (1991 — 2011).

After 1994 maintenance stopped and the communal use inevitably
declined slightly. Matters got far worse in 2006, when the objectors
began to take unauthorised access through The Nursery (later
fenced off) and Fleece land, and also using the land as if they owned
it for the transfer of scrap from lorry to lorry, etc, and general car
parking. This activity understandably hugely reduced the community
use in the Nursery and also severely restricting it on the Fleece land
— but just for the last five years of the relevant period.

The level of use of the Fleece during that period still included
occasional communal bonfires, children playing football, trampolining
and children’s parties, besides those that walk across and dog-walk
the area. Whilst not intensively used, because of the objectors’
activities, it is a level of activity not dissimilar from that to be found
today on many registered village greens in County Durham villages.

45 Further correspondence from the Applicant was received in February 2014
and is attached to this report at Appendix 6. It makes no assertion of
continued recreational use of the Land, but details a number of obstacles to
that use. A further representation from the Objectors (Appendix 7) adds
nothing of note.

Officer Advice
46 The contentious question is therefore whether the use has been sufficiently

extensive or continuous over the relevant period to qualify for registration,
or if it has been too trivial and sporadic. The Inspector, having discounted

Page 8



the ‘walking’ use, concluded that the use for children’s recreation and other
recreational uses was not sufficient to amount to the assertion of a right:
6.28. The Applicant concedes that the Land ‘is not intensively used’ (letter
of 17 November 2013 at Appendix 6) but contends that the use has not
‘entirely ceased’ (oral evidence of Martin Roberts to the Inspector:
Appendix 5 at paragraph 4.11) and that registration ought therefore to
follow. The Applicant’s more recent correspondence explains in detail how
recreational uses are being discouraged and that in their view the use of the
Land by others has “prevented its long-established community use
continuing” (Appendix 6). However the question for this Committee is not
why the use may or may not have taken place, but whether the use did in
fact continue for the 20 year qualifying period in question.

47 This is a matter of fact and degree in the circumstances of any given case.
The nature and degree of user needs to bring home to a reasonable (and in
this case, hypothetical) landowner, throughout the relevant 20 year period,
that local inhabitants are carrying out activities on the land that are capable
of being resisted, or permitted, by the landowner. The Inspector concluded
on the evidence before her that they had not.

Overall Conclusions

48 Officers concur with the Inspector and that greater weight ought to be given
to the evidence that was tested on cross-examination at the Inquiry. The
evidence was of generally diminishing use throughout the qualifying period,
and which was “extremely limited” (Inspector: 6.26) for the final 5 years.
Although the Applicant has since contended (letter of 17 November 2013:
Appendix 6) that the level of use of the Land in those 5 years was not
dissimilar from that on many registered village greens, that is not the
appropriate test (because, once a green is registered, there is no
requirement on local inhabitants to persist in regular recreational activities
as the land is protected anyway.) The Applicant’s more recent submission
(of 4 February 2014: Appendix 6), by setting out how the recreational use
has been “prevented”, lends support to the Inspector's conclusions that
such use did not continue to a sufficient degree for the relevant period.

49 It is for Members to come to a determination on this matter. However in
your officers’ view the Applicant has failed to discharge the burden of proof
to demonstrate on the balance of probabilities that the Land has been used
for lawful sports and pastimes to a sufficient extent by local inhabitants over
the relevant period.

Recommendation:

50 That the Application be REFUSED for the reasons recommended by the
Inspector in paragraph 43 above.

Contact: Patricia Holding Tel: 03000 269726

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 10



W\k% 1

WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 1

Application Form and supporting submissions

Page 11



®

Commons Act 2006: Section 15

. Application for the registration of land as a Town or
' Village Green: " -

] L

FORM 44

Cfficial stamp of reg

istration authority

Application number:

NG humber allodatéd at registration:

N-Ae

*

| s Applicants applying for registration under section 15(1) of the 2006 Act should, in addition, complete questtons 7-8.
Section 15(1) enables any person to apply to register land as a green where the criteria for registration in section

15(2), (3) or (4) apply.

» Applicants applying for voluntary registration under section 15(8) should, in addition, complete question 9.

,"*rtndleatrngrvahd-date of,recelpt.. e
C\r‘ . Se gy il ‘fﬂ A sl W B o i

‘ oo OO KL VE R [l 8 y, A

I SR g e :jf,\ CREELasT Reguster unit No(s)

I - LA g Sk R 1
‘ B s "l S /:' i ..u"\f,f_;ﬁ'\{ A L
r et

w 1 1 AUE 2011

* All applicants should complete questions 1-6 and 10-11.

(CRA to complete only if application is successful)

! H " H
""‘4- ._"‘ -|’_ Ry ] "r__. - - - : . =
Applicants are adviéé’d‘tofread the ‘Guidance Notes for the ¢ompletion of an Application for the Registration of
land as a Town or Village Green' and to note the following:

) Note 1

1

1. Registration Authority

To the

" Insert name of
registration
authority.

PuenaM COUNTY coumci—

COUNTY HAW/
wepAar AoTY

Page 12



Note 2

If there is more than
one applicant, list all
names. Please usea
separate sheet if
necessary. State the
fulf ttle of the
organisation if a body
corporalte or
unincotporafe.

ifquestion 3 is not
completed all
correspondence and
notices will be sent to
the first named
applicant.

Note 3

This question should
be complefed if a
solicitor is Instructed
for the purposes ofthe
appfication, If so all
correspondence and
notices will be sent to
the person or firm
named here.

2. Name and address of the applicant

Name: | s  putkunrsy PRJSR COUNCIL

Full postal address:

o shneay HAL
CLERK TO ThHe UNULS

| 20 WOWBSWATER. AROVE WEST BUTKUANLD
| B4 sitoe AU NN Postcode DLIY O9NA

Telephone number: [,
(incl. national dialling code}i 01228 33 5"’3 60

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code)

E-mail address: shavon. home @ bbintemel .com

3. Name and address of solicitor, if any

Name:

|

|

Firm: i

Full postal address:

Post code

Telephone number. |
{incl. national dialling code)I

Fax number:
(incl. national dialling code) —

E-mail address:

Page 13




Nofte 4

For further advice on
the criteria and
gualifying dates for
registration please see
section 4 of the
Guidance Notes.

* Section 15(6)
enables any period of
statutory closure
where access fo the
land is denied to be
disregarded in
determining the 20
year period.

4. Basis of application for registration and qualifying criteria

If you are the landowner and are seeking voluntarily to register your land
please tick this box and move to question 5.

Application made under section 15(8): D

r

! ar | AT IS - !

If the application is made under section 15(1) of the Act, please tick one of
the following boxes to indicate which particular subsection and qualifying
criterion applies to the case.

o M s:eeéupﬂmﬁm,
STATEMBNT

ety T '
Section 15(2) applies:

Section 15(3) applies:

[]

[]

If section 15(3) or (4) applies please indicate the date on which you consider
that use as of right ended.

Section 15(4) applies:

\ H + s
| | 3

If section 15(6)*applies please indicate the.period of statutory closure (if
any) which needs to be disregarded.

Page 14




Note 5

The accompanying
map must be at a
scale of at feast
1:2,500 and show the
fand by distinctive
cofouring to enable fo
it to be clearly
identified.

* Only complete if the
fand is already
registered as common
land.

Note 6

It may be possible to
indicate the focality of
the green by refersnce
to an administrative
area, such as a parish
or electoral ward, or
other area sufficiently

definsd by name (such |

as a village or sireet).
Ifthis is not possible a
map should be
provided on which a
locality or
neighbourhood is
marked clearly.

5. Description and particutars of the area of land In respect of which
application for registration is made

| Name by which usually known:

THE FLEEGE AND NURSERM LAY ‘

' _Bcatio n:

LAND BETWEEBN Feon T $TREET AN THE |
NURSERM  NJp2TH 57 THE GREEN, WEST mﬂmmo‘

| Shown in colour on the map which is marked and attached to the statutory
declaration.

Common land register unit number (if relevant) *

| 6. Locality or nelghbourhood within a locality in respect of which the
application is made

Please show the locality or neighbourhood within the locality to which the
claimed green relates, either by writing the administrative area or

| geographical area by name below, or by attaching a map on which the area is
' clearly marked:

WEST MVckwrd VILAGE | NTW sensTrAL TTO
THE WesT RUKAND PARRIST LoUNULS

ADMIMISTRATIVE AT

Tick here if map attached: @

Page 15




¥

Note 7

Applicants should
provide a summary of
the case for
registration here and
enclose a separate full
statement and all other
evidence including any
witness statements in
support of the
application.

This information is not
needed if a landowner
is applying to register
the land as a green
under section 15(8).

7. Justification for application to register the land as a town or village
green

THE LoD SUB [BCT OF TS APRLUIATION
S BN USED Tor LAWFUL REZRE FTioh)
ARID sm@w, m;rwrmgg FrRoMA 1473, AT
eYsT, AT Wit TME T wAS lxwrr\mwréao
AND MANTHNED Tol THAT f0RPEE BY

e Lol AUTHORITY . RELRERTIoWAL Use
BeFoRs THEN  (6ES BAcK INTo THE [450s
Ao PRSIBLY A FAL Ak #rs 195

THe wanND +H>r5 No KNTUN SWNER , A3

At BEEN OPen AvD UN‘FBNCED(UWL/
PARTIAL BRNKLISURE N MaY 28] AND  NO

coNTENTT Wz DER BEEN SSUATT RM

MM TD  UNNOTAKE REZRLATONAL

Ai:r\\/'l'Tli;S

Pba'cge sgs ﬁTTPrcH'ED quovwn HieTolHN |
Puwexa \IUQTFILP(T(GM m ﬂgmsmATfaN[ Ao
23 WITESS STAT‘EHWS (N SoppoecT OF
The PreisH LJUHUL/S Prff’uoﬁ’TrtrM

~r‘\_ '

Page 16




Nole 8
Please use a separaie
sheet if necessary.

Where refevant include
reference fo tile
numbers in the register |

of title held by the
Land Registry.

{f no one has been
identified in this
section you should
write “none”

This information is not
needed if a Jandowner
is applying to register |
the land as a green

under section 15(8).

Note 9

List alf such
declarations that
accompany the
application. If none is |
required, write “none”.

This information is not
needed ifan
application is being
made fo register the
land as a green under
section 15(1).

Note 10

List alf supporting
documents and maps
accompanying the
application. If none,
write “none”

Please use a separate |
sheet if necessary.

8. Name and address of every person whom the applicant believes to be
an owner, lessee, tenant or occupier of any part of the land claimed to
be atown or village green

|_gow N ozenriep (28 quesTion 19

OWITR(5 ) UNKNTVEN

9. Voluntary registration — declarations of consent from ‘relevant
jeaseholder’, and of the proprietor of any ‘relevant charge’ over the land

i

10. Supporting documentation

1. e INg LETTERS
2. PpedsH— covnTV wscTion]

2. APPULA TION FoeH
b MAP OF AckA PROFSED F6l RO STROFTI 0\
5. MAP oF PA2ISH LOVNTUL AEEA

€. BockyROUNTD H1sTeRY

7. OhsB FoRs RIBUSTRITOND

g, 2AILH Ao NuL ceuTIoN UAND
A WITNESS sTATEMBRTS LIST

1. WITNESS ST ATEMENTS

Page 17



11. Any other information relating to the application
Note 11
If there ara any other
matters whjch);hw[d SEE wMUu & TTRHED DoUMEBNTS
be brought to the
attention of the i
registration authorty ||
{in particular if a |
,;Jherjgn interested in |

e land is expected to | .
challenge the | Pz 6F| cTToR .
application for '

registration). Full | MA. ABEL A—g,l-{ﬁ"ﬁioﬂ‘cl

defails should be given |

here or on a separate | 27 T'?—G'N'T sTeseT

shest i necessary. |

| WeST AUKRKUANYD

| DLIL qHW
Note 12 i g{ A ra )
The application must Date: =Ta ” LAt et oLO' , /
be signed by each J
individual applicant, or
by the authorised

officer of an applicant | Signatures:

which is a body !

corporate or ! S
unincorporate.

REMINDER TO APPLICANT

You are advised to keep a copy of the application and all associated documentation.
Applicants should be aware that signature of the statutory declaration Is a sworn statement
of truth in presenting the application and accompanying evidence. The making of a false
statement for the purposes of this application may render the maker liable to prosecution.

Data Protection Act 1998

The application and any representations made cannot be treated as confidential. To determine the
application it will be necessary for the registration authority to disclose information received from
you to others, which may incfude other local authorities, Government Departments, public bodies,
other organisations and members of the public.

Page 18




Statutory Declaration In Support

 Insert full name
(and address if not
given in the
application form).

? Delete and adapt
as necessary.

®Insert name ff
Applicable

4 Complete only in
the case of
voluntary
registration (strike
through if this is not
refevant)

To be made by the applicant, or by one of the applicants, or by his or
their solicfior, or, if the applicant is a body corporate or unincorporate,
by its solicitor, or by the person who signed the application.

lroeeeeoereires e, SOleminly and sincerely declare as follows:—

1.2 1am (({the person (one of the persons) who (has) (have) signed
the foregoing application)) ((the solicitor to (the applicant) (3 one of the
applicants)).

2. The facts set out in the application form are to the best of my
knowledge and belief fully and truly stated and | am not aware of any
other fact which should be brought to the attention of the registration
authority as likely to affect its decision on this application, nor of any
document relating to the matter other than those (if any) mentioned in
parts 10 and 11 of the application.

3. The map now produced as part of this declaration is the map
referred to in part 5 of the application.

4.% | hereby apply under section 15(8) of the Commons Act 2006 to
register as a green the land indicated on the map and that is in my
ownership. | have provided the following necessary declarations of
consent:

(i) a declaration of ownership of the land;

(i) a declaration that all necessary consents from the relevant
leaseholder or proprietor of any relevant charge over the land have

Cont/

Page 19




* Continued been received and are exhibited with this declaration; or
(i) where no such consents are required, a declaration to that effect.

And | make this solemn declaration, conscientiously believing the
same to be true, and by virtue of the Statutory Declarations Act 1835.

Declared by the said SHw2ed H 0

at BisWgP Alkc—\dlﬁﬂ\\rb

this CKH\ day of Q wCUs

2= B

Signature of Declarant

e e L N g e

Before me *

Do ™

Signature:

Address: SN VT 2050000 Sl TS,
Sl Ao O ERM
QL 3wof saems

Qualification: S>> Gl T

* The statutory declaration must be made before a justice of the peace, practising
solicitor, commissioner for oaths or notary public.

Signature of the statutory declaration is a sworn statement of truth in presenting the
application and accompanying evidence.

REMINDER TO OFFICER TAKING DECLARATION:

Please initial all alterations and mark any map as an exhibit

Page 20



West koo Paish Counl (1

Sharon Hall, Clerk to the Council
20 Loweswater Grove, West Auckiand
BISHOP AUCKLAND
County Durham DL14 ONA
WM01388 834360 ™ sharon.home@btopenworld.com

10 August 201 |
Ms Jill Errington
Senior Committee Services Officer
Durham County Council
County Hall
Durham City

Dear Ms Errington

APPLICATION FOR THE REGISTRATION OF LAND AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN,
UNDER SECTION 15 OF THE COMMONS ACT 2006
THE FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND, WEST AUCKLAND

Foliowing earlier discussions between Durham County Council officers and the Parish
Council, on behalf of West Auckland Parish Council | now enclose with this letter an
application for village green registration at The Fleece and Nursery Land, West Auckland.
This includes my sworn statutory declaration.

Should you wish clarification on any points in the document please do not hesitate to
contact me.

On one specific point, the erection of fencing, this matter is detailed in the Background
History, and clearly distinguishes between the 1993/4 closed fencing which established
adverse possession rights for Mr Steven Robinson (land excluded from this application), and
the fencing erected in early May 2010 in The Nursery which has never been fully closed and,
though a troublesome nuisance, has been erected for less than two years and has never
denied physical access to the open space (included in this application).

Yours sincerely

<h . WL

Sharon Hall
Parish Clerk

Page 21



st Auckiand

LU i ol U g St TS = T L7 I\ U 111 I N S T I BT
SYLLLIURLD WL AVELGEIELE, NICIU IVILIUAY, /1 iVIAICH LUt di /.Uy pin,

Parish Community Room, Monteith Close, West Auckland

rresearn L Hr. Hel

11.18

11.19

11.20

A Badd 1

Cllr E Farrer

Cllr P Fenwick
LT J Ferguson
Clir C Maurs, vice-Chairman
Clir V Raine

UH LIy

Cllr W Rubusun
Cllr A Turner

CUI & | weaale
JC Andy [ucker
PC Jessica Walker
JETL Kace. 1L L

TO ACCEPT APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE.

ARHOZIES were receven rom T { haritnn and { 1y Rnherte

DECLARATION OF INTEREST IN ITEMS ON THE AGENDA.

I NETE WETE NI (IRCETATINTIN (H INTSTEO TR 1y

TO CONFIRM MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEFTING
LAC TNINuIC WEIE agited 10 LE 4 Luc accouni vl ihe previous meeitng and signed
accordingly.

ALF LIVY BRI DN LAPIYAPELIY B DAL v V10 VAU IV Y S & At PRIV 3

Chris McCale attended the meeting to request that the Parish Council anneider
ALOWIIE B G L PO 10 UNE L0E EATED L OMmUEmTY K00me framicas ones the Viitage
Centre ctoses  This was agreed n pnnciple and it was resolved that any financial
implications such as heating and lighting costs would be considered oy the Parish
Couneil for all groups holding sessions in the Conununily Parish rooms. Chris stated
ihat the wii and t=levision purchased by the Parish Council for the Village Centre
woutd be retuned. The Parish Council will then decide where the equipment can be
ussd.  The Paiish Couneil thanked Chuss for her comumbment to the Viilage Cenirz

Tt Tl Llhs 2 Parisk Council aware of their olanning nermission
etse Lt [ Pols, (P S et T Sy e D O e Bl e R S | S

Farsh Councii were iuiiy supporuve of this CioSure ang emnnacicas thar tha s ida-

=S ER A M wAA e Am i mth 8 Sememma o maa

Page 22

Counell 2

A

Ll

L% |



11.22 TO RECEIVE POLICE REPORT.

PC Hucker introduced PC Walker and provided details of the crime statistics for the
previous month. He also advised that a speed watch initiative will be taking place in
schools and throughout the village in coming months. He emphasised the volunteers
to man the speed guns would be welcome.

11.23 CLERK’S TABLING OF CORRESPONDENCE/ENDORSING INVOICE CHEQUES.

CHEQUE DETAILS AMOUNT | PREVIOUSLY
No AGREED
100310 DCC Christmas lights £996.40 Y
100311 Parish Rooms keys and cleaning materials £57.61 Y
100312 DCC Car Park Contribution £5000.00 Y
100313 CDALC Subscriptions £257.34 Y
100314 DCC Monteith buildings insurance £60.00 Y

The Clerk tabled all correspondence received and any cheques endorsed for invoices
as detailed above.

The Clerk also advised that the PC laptop was not working and was in need of repair/
replacement. It was resolved that a replacement should be purchased if required (this
isn’t necessary at present as a free repair was obtained).

11.24 To RECEIVE FINANCE WORKING GROUP UPDATE.
The finance working group are due to meet on the 21* March 2011.
11.25 TO RECEIVE ENVIRONMENT/PLANNING WORKING GROUP UPDATE.

1 To discuss Parish Plan Project

The Nursery West Auckland Parish Council resolved to apply to Durham County Council for
the registration of the public open space between Front Street and The Nursery in West

Auckland (marked red on Plan A circulated at the meeting) as a Village Green, under Section
15 of the Commons Act 2006. Plan attached.

ii To discuss snow clearing contingency plan

Jeff Race, DCC attended the meeting and provided a presentation on how winter weather
conditions are managed by DCC on a budget of £2.75 million per annum. He explained how
roads are prioritised and why all roads cannot be cleared due to cost implications. They have
purchased 42000 tonnes of salt this year and 1800 salt bins are supplied across the county.

Jeff advised that DCC can provide insurance cover for volunteers clearing snow and that
snow shovels and ploughs for use by volunteers can be piovil 2L, TTT

i1 Qaklev Cross Communitv Hall

To be carried to next agenda due to uime restrictions.

Chairman’s Signature,, 5 A2 LS e Pt
20f3

Page 23



iv Roval Wedding

it was resolved that a maximum of £500 could be given tot he Workingmen’s Club and
Memorial Hall providing they are willing to hold an event and cater for the residents who
wish to celebrate the forthcoming Royal Wedding. It was also resolved that £300 would b
give to the youth club if they are in a position to hold such an event for the youths of the
village Clir Rielly aoreed to contact all three organisations.

v Westlife

To be carried to next agenda due to time restrictions,
vi Botile Banks

To be carried to next agenda due to time restrictions.

11.26 TO RECEIVE ITEMS FOR MONDAY, 11™ APRIL 2011 MEETING (INTERIM MEFTING
21/03/11)

= TC considor puichas Of Carpei ana desn  Cuutinuuity Farish Rooms

o To consider running cost contributions from Lo loval groups for use of premises
TU disvuss Canicy Cruss Cuouiumy It
> Ta discuss Westlifc

T om AdrAaes p BTy Py ey
R Y L T N VI C WL VPR, W

3]

S /) ‘
Chairman’s Signature... .. /7 £ d 0 e e Date A [

Page 24 30f3



ety e T——

Yoy I T TP

| / ._,,J

J i

(./G.-..._,,____'_- T ! - j

i SEaas
]
1 . H
- 11‘ i
i
S |
L

{
|

et

Zront surest and Tne Nurse

The gap between

Proposed area for village green registration between

PLAN A

the two areas of land is defined by the original corn

original timber corner post of the tand enclosed by Mr Steven Robinson,
possession by him, The gap was sufficient to provide pedestrian access only berween the two spaces,

and is one metre In widi

ry, ¥Wesi Auckland, County Durham

er of the stone garden wall and the
and subsequently acquired by adverse

Page 25



Ryt

3 BT WL e VWET Y PN

S

l\-.......-
- - eme— m mew ay

- ok v

by \
¢ an >
2 fa| |
: | . .
2‘ -
- - - » - iy © - 3 n
) ol M
47a |10 W 9 21
15 el AL 2" _— em o -
L e i _"h.__ _______ —-— \ - -
v . o e e =z
o e —— ~ e s Tl o &~ ) =
-«FRQNTSTRE_:T_ ; 3 ~ T e T -, X i
________ - \\‘ 4 ..-—",-—"'- r___._&--‘ -"‘____-""__... = ...\ L7 /:I\\,
- = ol -—— T e f? /
____,-:;)\‘(—"—- = et _,.‘-—::.,’-;_\_ f-—‘ L ‘i VII g lr’ ;"I
-~ v oy B o Cra IR LY v T Ty )
= = -7 L - i \ 17 s/ 1 ~
o — Am / ] S e oY /‘f/,/ PRV ;
T ~ J i TN __ S L s i 7
e T Sk i S e =
. "'-_:'__“-.._ ‘\"‘_‘_ \-n.\ i I__,I s 1 I
= 7~ s T ,”/ o0 Vi, A
- - ~ > s oy ’ [}
- e I£: it ., frf
- s.\‘-.. i oy N\ ”:.- /:, -—__--’__.l 7
WestAuckland === -\ g
es ICKIaNG =--"" - o S ggas™
"\.\\ I T o b _...--.—-‘
Y - \/ A - W i =
T P ) ’l—-_-‘" I L e ! \ ] -

This Plan is the Plan A referred to both in Note 5 of this application and in the Statutory

Declaration of Sharon Hall, Clerk to West Auckland Parish Council, made this P — day -

of VG 101 . before me....S22.. Qkote: , and also in Witness "“T‘

_ Statements, all maps being based on OS 1:1250, provided by the former Wear Valley B
~~ District Council, enlarged where necessary, but always provided with a scale bar. ' 1:




[1PUno?) Aunod weydngg Aq paijddns dew gO ue uo paseq dew aip ‘eaue

JIDUNOY) YSIaeq PUBPPINY ISBAA Y3 UIYIm Buld] AJoym ISOLWIE ‘PUEPINY ISOM JO 23E||IA 3L

se Aieao] ayp Suluyap ‘uoned)dde siys jo 9 310N Ul 03 padiaed ueld ANEI0T 3Yl S| ueld Sy | x N
m_ ;
5 sedAg puepony 1soMm . Qo ﬁ o
-] __
£2d4d
[12a _
X
® @) =
2edd : 5 ,u
=)
O |
L
wv I e 02dd
2 [
n B . . =
bEcld A= : 2
LEMB X
@) : = G
bead 8ldd
-~
{ S
2 - b T = a - =
Ui 8244
S = B,
N ve 8ldd
.lnllh L1




WEST AUCKLAND PARISH COUNCIL @

PROPOSED ‘FLEECE AND NURSERY’ VILLAGE GREEN REGISTRATION
OF LAND BETWEEN FRONT STREET AND THE NURSERY,
WEST AUCKLAND, COUNTY DURHAM

BACKGROUND HISTORY

1897

These notes trace the history of the open space to the north of the village green between The
Nursery, the River Gaunless and Front Street, land that is the subject of this application for village
green registration. The land lies within West Auckland Conservation Area and its historical
development, particularly the separate histories of the ‘Fleece’ area behind Front Street and the
‘Nursery’ area to its NE, is very refevant to this application. '

! .

/,//A/A/ Z

i = T | Fm .H_—QtEI-‘PO:S.t-’Oﬁjc:g—’é:wasoq’ﬁ 857

-—it pRARY |

=== » Guide Post
VPR il 857 -7 //-@//mﬁ% -
" Post Offive. Square (e 50

= Y ;'.o-,‘ \ fzzwrll
-ﬂ-ﬂm N ‘\:\u.‘,A &:aﬂéﬁ

ﬂ‘ ’ F] b l" }"
Second edition OS Map (1897)

! .
A et aay,,

Page 28



The second edition OS map (1897) shown above, shows the Corn Mill with its then recently built
stone cottages (now The Nursery), north of the Mill Race. This Mill Race comes off the River
Gaunless to the west, and is a feature probably centuries old and certainly present in 1857 (Ist ed
OS map). It has long been the boundary between the Corn Mill area and the rear gardens of the
north side of Front Street. At this time the Mill Race prevented any physical link between the

two areas: no Front Street properties enjoyed any access from the north, because the Mill Race
was in the way.

On Front Street in 1897, the Fleece Hotel (now nos 20,20A and 20B), together with No 21
(private house now) and Nos 22/23 (Prince of Wales PH) occupied the village frontage with yards
and gardens stretching back to the River Gaunless (western part of northern boundary) and the
Mill Race (eastern part). It is highly likely that all this block of land was formerly owned by VVest
Auckland Brewery, who owned both pubs. In due course Camerons owned bath pubs (but not
No 21), until sale of the Fieece Hotel c.1973 and Prince of Wales c.2000.

1939

MILLBANK

-_-a-—-.—a--—

Fourth Edition OS map (1939)
2

Page 29



The Mill Race has been filled in by 1919 (3™ ed OS), so presumably the Mill had ceased to function.
The brick Nursery cottages were built part over the old Mill Race between 1897 and 1919. In

1939 (4™ edition OS map), see above, the two areas were still distinct with no sign of any form of
linkage. Witness statements attached to this application suggest that by as early as 1926 there was
recreational use established on both areas, now known as the Fleece and Nursery land, and that at
some point the two areas were joined by a breach in the wall for pedestrian access across the
infilled millrace. From the date of this breach in the wall, there developed a through pedestrian
route, across the land in question, from the ailey beside 19 Front Street, to The Nursery and afong
the riverside to the west. It became an established ‘cherished’ footpath route, i.e. not a formal
right of way. There was no vehicular access at all between the two areas at this time.

1950-60s

In the 1950s and 60s the narrow pedestrian gap that existed in the stone wall that formed the
boundary between the former mill race and the open land behind the Prince of VWales and Fleece
public houses, and the Nursery land to the north, continued to be used as a through pedestrian
route across the open land, all still in communal recreational use.. There was still no vehicular
route at all between the Fleece and Nursery areas.

1971-74

In 1971 the six Mill cottages against the river, together with their privies, etc, were demolished
and in the following years the area was landscaped as an extension to the open space between the
Nursery terraces. By this time the stone wall that formed the boundary between the Front
Street properties and the Mill Race had been demolished and the whole area was open space. Itis
from this date that the local planning authority, Wear Valley District Council from 1974, began the
maintenance of the open amenity space with regular grass mowing. With the loss of the wall,
there was now no impediment to vehicular use between the two areas, and there may have been
occasional vehicular movements, though no recognisable track or route was ever defined in the
grass, suggesting use was only very intermittent.

c.1994

In late 1993 or early 1994 Mr Abel Armstrong, then owner of 24 Front Street and the derelict
Chapel behind it — both properties with only Front Street vehicular access — began to use a
vehicular opening he had created in the stone wall beside his land, which formed the eastern
boundary of the ‘Fleece’ land, thus facing onto that open space. He began to take both private and
commercial vehicles both north, through the Nursery and southwest onto Front Street via the
alley besides |9 Front Street. The access was opposed by local residents and in an effort to stop
him the landlord of the Prince of Wales erected fencing on the Fleece land open space.

Considerabile local action, involving local residents and the local district councillor, the late Clir
Mrs Betty Harker, ensued. Ownership of the open land could not be established and, after the
dust had settled, only the area formerly occupied by the six Mill houses down by the river
remained fenced. This fencing was undertaken by Mr Stephen Robinson, who began to claim
adverse possession on the land, although he only owned the site of one cottage at the time. This
claim was allegedly made with the tacit private approval of Cllr Harker, because it effectively
blocked Mr Armstrong’s vehicular access through The Nursery, but maintained a narrow (approx
one metre wide) pedestrian route between the two areas of open space. Mr Armstrong's
vehicular access north through The Nursery was thus blocked by fencing and he now limited his
vehicular access to the Front Street alley only.

3
Page 30



In view of the ownership uncertainty, Wear Valley DC ceased maintaining the land south of the
line of the Mill Race, the ‘Fleece’ Land, but did continue to cut the grass in front of the remaining
Nursery houses, the ‘Nursery’ land, though both areas, now separated by the land of Mr
Robinson’s adverse possession claim, have remained public open space in recreational use
throughout the period.

At this time, Cameron Breweries, as successors in title to the West Auckland Brewery,
investigated their possible ownership of the open land between the river, the Nursery and Front
Street as they then owned the Prince Of Wales PH and had formerly owned the Fleece Hotel PH
too, whose land originally stretched back to the river (as detailed in sale particulars in 1857). This
legal search of adjacent properties deeds, etc, was probably prompted by the increasing
unprofitability of the Prince of Wales PH, and ownership would have allowed them to extend their
buildings or develop a beer garden to the rear. They could not prove ownership but, as the most
likely claimant to ownership, placed a legal Caution on the land right through to the Nursery, with
The Land Registry. Later this Caution was reduced up to the line of the Mill Race, excluding
Steve Robinson’s land claim and the Nursery land, reflecting the separation of the two areas and
the likely limit of West Auckland Brewery's historical ownership (Mr Robinson’s fenced land
actually included a sliver of land south of the line of the mill race). Cameron’s sold the Prince of
Wales PH to Wolverhampton and Dudley Breweries, with no fand behind it, who then maintained
the Caution for a period. When, in turn, they sold the Prince of Wales, the Caution lapsed.

It should be noted that in the fencing ‘free-for-all’ that ensued in 1994, Mr and Mrs Briggs of 21
Front Street felt compelled to fence the external amenity space they had enjoyed for decades, in
part legally secured in an agreement with Cameron's 8reweries. This land has remained
continuously fenced and thus is, de facto, now the private land of Mrs Briggs, achieved by adverse
possession.

It should be further noted that for brief periods during the 1990’s and running up to the mid
2000’s, the tand east of Mrs Briggs garden, immediately behind the Prince of Wales, and ending in
line with her northern garden fence, has been fenced and gated, fenced and not gated, and now
fully open, each fencing being undertaken by tenants of the public house, with the occasional
unauthorised use of a smail part of that land for refuse and empty bottle storage.

2006

In 2006, as the deadline for the twelve year occupation of Steve Robinson’s adverse possession
land approached, the fencing was torn down by relatives of the original owners of one of the six
Mill cottages (joined by relatives of Mr Armstrong), who then formally opposed his claim. The
claim was finally settled in 2008-9 at a Land Registry Tribunal which awarded Mr Robinson his
fenced land.

Since the removal of the fencing in 2006 Mr Armstrong, his son-in-law Mr John-Paul CIiff (who
lives in one of the two converted houses in the old Chapel) as well as their family, friends and
acquaintances, have taken vehicular access through The Nursery with private and commercial
vehicles on a regular basis with many vehicle movements a day. The vehicles include commercial
vans, trucks, horseboxes, a lorry with a fixed crane, several caravans at atime, and on one occasion
a double-decker bus! These vehicles destroyed the grass surfacing and a mudded track developed
through the open area to the detriment of local residents, and other residents in the village, who
regularly enjoy the riverside walk and recreational use of the land, further degrading the
appearance and amenity of these public open spaces.

Page 31



2008-11

In Eeb 2008 West Auckland Parish Council placed a Caution on the two parcels of open space
land, in an effort to demonstrate the community's intention to retain these spaces as open public
amenity spaces.  In a further effort to limit access in The Nursery, the Parish Council placed
bollards around the Nursery land, only for two bollards to be removed by Mr Armstrong and Mr
Cliff, to maintain their vehicular access. In April 2008 Mr Armstrong placed a Caution on the
Nursery land.

(1) West Auckland Parish Council ‘Caution’ land behind Front Street hatched in red

(2} West Auckland Parish Council and Abel Armstrong ‘Caution land’ in The Nursery, cross-hatched in red
(3) Steven Robinson land between these two parcels of land, subject of planning permission for two houses
(4) Current vehicular access routes from Mr ArmstrongiMr Cliff's land

5
Page 32



In 2009 the Parish Council asked Mr Armstrong to cease vehicular access through The Nursery,
only to be told he held documents that proved he had legal rights to the route. The Parish
Council then requested sight of these documents within fourteen days, but received no reply.

In early May 2010 Mr Armstrong and Mr Cliff erected a fence around the Nursery land,
establishing a gated vehicular access of approximately two metres at its junction with the ‘Fleece’
land, thus including a portion of Mr Robinson’s land, so denying local Nursery residents direct
access to their cherished open space. Access was however not completely denied as two gates
were always left open, except for when they were very occasional closed for a day or so when
horses were impounded, when even a small pedestrian gate allowed access. In any event, one of
the gates quickly became damaged and was left permanently open, thus the land has never been
fully enclosed.

During 2010 and 201 | Mr Robinson, having secured planning permission for two houses on his
land, has brought in substantial rubble stonework to erect a high stone wall along his southern
boundary, in compliance with his approval, i.e. leaving only a one metre pedestrian gap between
his land and Mr Armstrong’s. He has so far laid the foundation for that wall to almost within a
metre of his corner boundary, thus allowing Mr Armstrong and his family to take vehicular access
through the two metre wide access. Mr Armstrong’s response has been to partially remove
stonework from the corner of his boundary wall to widen the access.

During 2010 and 201 | Mr Armstrong has periodically ‘improved' his vehicular access by laying
down broken brick hardcore in the tracks and latterly road planings. These operations were
noted by the Durham County Council enforcement officers.

This creation of a through route and its accompanying fencing Is a major blemish on the area, a
hindrance to the easy access of local residents who are now prevented, in some cases, from
walking round to the back of their own houses, without going through gates. It is also a huge
disincentive to the recreational use of the land. But that use has not entirely ceased as it is still
used for public access, dog walking and sitting out, etc as the gates have never enclosed the land,
thus, in theory, recreational use remains an option.

2-8-11

Page 33



Path T -

Plan of proposed Fleece+Nursery village green area, also the land held under Caution by West
Auckland Parish Council.

Showing, in red, the area of land in The Nursery fenced by Mr A Armstrong in May 2010

Page 34



LANDOWNERSHIP IN THE NURSERY IN 1934 AND 1945 @

r ol

\ Haly
=

Sa % - \
_ itabion

~218

ol Reisr-

L T

MILLBANK

o

Boundary of 1934 mortgage land as defined in text {no map)
between Joseph Vart (borrower) and EJTG Bagshawe (mortgagee)

Boundary of 1945 land sale, as defined on map, between Joesph Vart (vendor) and Herbert Mairs (purchaser)

Evidence based on a 1955 Abstract of Tite
Page 35



THE FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND, WEST AUCKLAND

THE CASE FOR VILLAGE GREEN REGISTRATION

The land proposed for registration comprises two distinct areas — the Fleece land and the
Nursery land - that were once historically and physically separate (probably up to c.1971-4,
were then wholly joined (from mid 1970s to 1994), and are now linked by a narrow one
metre wide strip of land (1994-2011). Throughout this time, and possibly as far back as
926, both areas have been open land enjoyed by local residents for community uses. The
complex history of the area is fully set out in an accompanying document.

The area lies within the West Auckland Conservation Area and in 2009 the Parish Council
designated this land, and adjacent areas to the NE as an Action Area as a focus for its future
work, such were the issues of environmental degradation, loss of amenity, dereliction and
vandalism.

The whole area has been, and still is, used for a range of informal recreational activities
including fishing, football, cricket, parties, picnics, dog walking, Guy Fawkes bonfires, general
play, sunbathing, kite-flying, etc, etc. it is used by residents whose houses are close to the
land, and also used by much of the village who use the River Gaunless route and the path
from Front Street as a regular amenity walk within the village.

Those activities have been constant during this time and only the recent partial fencing of
the land, and excessive vehicular traffic, around the Nursery, by Mr Abel Armstrong and his
family, have limited, but not stopped, the recreational use of that part of the area. Mr
Armstrong's fencing, erected May 2010, has never been fully enclosed. The occasional use
of the land by travellers and grazing by horses has also, inevitably, restricted, but not
curtailed, the easy recreational use of the land by local residents.

During much of this period, and certainly in the past forty years, there has never been a
known owner of any part of the land and consequently no consent was ever sought to use
the land for recreational purposes. Ownership of The Nursery area is likely to be held
originally by the builders of the Nursery houses, and on the Fleece land the owners once
were likely to have been West Auckland Brewery, though proof of the latter has since
disappeared. From 974 up to 1994 the whole of the area was maintained by Wear Valley
District Council, only the Nursery area being maintained post-1994 until recently.

Village Green registration would enable to Parish Council, working with Durham County
Council, to ensure that the land is well-maintained, that unauthorised activities and access
are controlled and that the recreational and amenity use of the land is retained and
developed, for benefit of local residents.

If registration is successful, the Parish Council, would wish to work with Durham County
Council and loca! residents to protect recreational uses, control inappropriate activities,
remove unauthorised fencing, prepare a landscape improvement scheme and develop a
regular maintenance regime for grass-cutting.

Page 36



Land Registry

Official copy Title number DU311368  Edition date 30.05.2008
Or r eglster Of — In accordance with r.134(7) of the Land Registration Rules

2003, this official copy is issued without reference to any
. . application or matter which may affect the caution's
caution title subsisience.

— The date at the beginning of the caution details is the
date on which the caution was originally delivered for
registration.

— Issued on 30 May 2008 at 12:58:36.

— Under 5.67 of the Land Registration Act 2002, this copy is
admissible in evidence to the same extent as the original.

— For information about the register of title see Land Registry
website www.landregistry.gov.uk or Land Registry Public
Guide 7 - A guide to the information we keep and how you
can obftain it.

— This title is dealt with by Land Registry Durham Office.

Caution register kept under section 19 of the Land Registration Act 2002.

A: Caution property register
Containing a description of the legal estate to which the caution relates.

DURHEAEM : WERR VALLEY

1 (30.05.2008) Caution against first registration of the freehold estate in
land relating to the land shown edged with red on the caution plan of the

gbove title filed at the Registry and being land to the south west of The
Hursery, West Auckland.

2 {30.05.2008) The statutory declaration accompanying the caution states the
cauticner claims the following interest in the estate:

"as 'PARISH COUNCIL'. Under the 'Open Spaces Act 1906' any Local RAuthority
(which for the purposes of the Act includes {Section 1) The Council of any
County, of any Municipal Borough, or of any District The Common Council of
the City of London and any Parish Council has the power to acquire open

space or "undertake the entire or partial care, management, and control of

any open space whether any interest in the soil is transferred to the Local
Authority or not (Section 9(b)}.

"By virtue of the fact that the area in question constitutes 'open space'
in the Parish of West Auckland adjoining an unadopted access known as
'The Nursery' and the Parish Council is extremely concerned that heavy

vehicles and lorries have recently been driving over the land for which
tEhe Parish Council is respongible®,

Page 37

Page 1




.- +

Land Registry Title number DU311368 B

o~ Ordnance Survey map reference NZ1826SW .0 &
Official copy of  gi ezse Y o
caution p lan Adminisirative area Durham: Wear Valley o

© Crown Comymcr. Frocuces by Lana ReqisTy RammmmmﬂaahpmbwmwmanMenpamssbndommSmey Uicence Number 100026316.
4 rd h 4

3
N

- -

-

TR L \

o o 3
i 4 : Y e ) ¥ =

rdance with 1.134(7) of the Land Registration Rules 2003, this official copy issued on 30 May 2008

without reference to any application or matter which may affect the caution's subsistence. ltis admissible in

o]

mre o the same extent as the original (s.67 Land Registration Act 2002).

s caution pian shows the general position, not the exact line, of the boundaries. It may be subject to distortions in
e Messurements scaled from this plan may not match measurements between the same points on the ground. See
F -:EEM'E ggblic Guide 19 - Tille Plans and Boundaries.

s caution is dealt with by Land Registry, Durham Office.

e

=
i

MR

o

il

R

= lft 3

= - =
— i F

e
Ll




Official copy

Title number DU308793 Edition date 15.02.2008 |

' — In accordance with r.134(7) of the Land Registration Rul
O F re g I S te r O r: 2nogg? Hiis offﬁ:ial copy is(isz-",ged without re?gtl'erggéotg rélr';ly‘-::S

application or matter which may affect the caution's

Ca U t[ O n tl tl e = subsistence.

Caution register kept under section 19 of the Land Registration Act 2002.

A: Caution property register
Containing a description of the legal estate to which the caution relates.

DURHAM : WEAR VALLEY

1

O

8]

The date at the beginning of the caution details is the
date on which the caution was originally delivered for
registration.

— Issued on 18 February 2008 at 11:21:08.

— Under s.67 of the Land Registration Act 2002, this copy is
admissible in evidence to the same extent as the original.

— For information about the register of title see Land Registry
website www.landregistry.gov.uk or Land Registry Public
Guide 1 - A guide to the information we keep and how you
can obtain it.

— This title is dealt with by Land Registry Durham
(Southfield) Office

(15.02.2008) Caution against first registration of the freehold estate in
land relating to the land shown edged with red on the caution plan of the
above title filed at the Registry and being land at The Nursery, West
Auckland.

{15.02.2008) The statutory declaration accompanying the caution states ths
cautioner claims the following interest in the estate:

as 'PARISH COUNCIL'. Under the !'Open Spaces Act 1906' any Local Authority
{which for the purposes of the Act includes ({Section 1) The Council of any
County, of any Municipal Borough, or of any District The Common Council of
the City of London and any Parish Council has the power to acquire open
space or "undertake the entire or partial care, management, and control of
any open sSpace whether any interest in the soil is transferred to the Local
Authority or not (Section 9(b)}.

"by virtue of the fact that the area in guestion constitutes 'open space®

in the Parish of West Auckland adjoining an unadopted access knovn as 'Ths
Nursery' and the Parish Council is extremely concerned that heavy vehicles
and lorries have recently been driving over the land for which the Pzrish
Council is responsible".

Page 39
==



et s

R TS0
Boirrirste
© areg Durham: Wear Valley

w
S %00E OF T 55 6 ronbRes a0l T8 SOF Ao
=gl

--------- __

- -

sEusticn of Cegna Sury
= & i) ey Leence Number 10002631
¥ [

- ] ~

- | . . \
in accordance with r.134{7) of the Land Registration Rules 2003, this oicial copy issuad on 18 February 2008
is issued without reference to any application or matter which may aifect the caution’s subsistance. LIS :

evidence to the same extent as the original (s.67 Land Registration Act 2002).
This caution plan shows the general position, nol the exact line, of the boundaries. It may be subject to s
scale. Measurements scaled from this plan may not match measuramants betwesn the same points on the g
Land Registry Public Guide 19 - Titte Plans and Boundanes.

This caution is dealt with by Land Registry, Durham {Southiield) Oifica.

Page 40




TITLE HUMBER

DU185431

DURHAM : DURHAM

ORDMANCE SURVEY MaP REFERENCE: NZ18265W

SCALE 11250

CCROWN COFYRIGHT. MMMWMthhmﬂh

@ STEVEN RIenEad
rOVERSE (5SS

Ww’mmmmdmw.mwmmm

——

-

=_._-._, P

Thisﬁuephnshowsdzgmzlpcsitionoftheboundnﬁcs:itdusnolshowthemctlineofthebmmdaries. Measurements scaled
from thisphnmymmhmmunmsbctweenthcmpointsonthegxmmd. For mare information sec Land Registry Public

Guide 7 - Title Plans.

In accordance with r.134(7} of the Land Registration Rules 2003, this afficial copy is issued without reference to any application

or matter which may affect the caution's subsistence.
This copy mey be subject w0 distortions in scale,

Under .67 ofthel.mdRegistntimA.c12002.thiscopyisadn:issﬂﬂeincﬁdcncetothesamutmtaslhemiginﬂ

Issued on 10 February 2006 at 16:34:19,

+ This title is dealt with by the Durham (Southfleld House) District Land Registry.

2

A




LAND BETWEEN FRONT STREET AND THE NURSERY, WEST AUCKLAND

(1) West Auckland Parish Council ‘Caution’ land behind Front Street hatched in red
(2) West Auckland Parish Council and Abel Armstrong ‘Caution land’ in The Nursery, cross-hatched in red
(3) Steven Robinson land between these two parcels of land, subject of planning permission for two houses

Page 42



ata1p {|ns
JH6 #1710 PUEPINY 1S3AA 798135 U044 G/

TI6 ¥171Q PUEPINY ISIAA ‘SNUDBAY UOISIUOD) 9|
324 1S

MJS 171ag uoBueq I9sas sdioan) gl
Al 1@ uciBuieg peoy unounst] gj
34943 |InS

336 #171Q PUEpPNY uBfRH 3§ ‘asenbg ay) €7

UNO 171G PuepPNY doysig 1sed ysny 9
asa4p |jng

HYS €17Q ‘PUBPOOAA ‘a5nOH Jadoony

WIS £ HY X255N5 1S3AA "WERYSIO}H] ‘auET) uodwon) ‘35| S| T
Q48 51714 Hoe4D ‘uInqysaig YIoN “WnoD SpIsiiH T

a3 RS

356 ¥17Q weying o)) 'poomudA] ‘PIaiHIe] |

HS9 ZHQ 9ISy UOWIAA QUIISBIT) UOSIIIBAA | €

D26} 30U J1 *SS2UPPD JUA.LIND)

110Z-6461
110T-6461

110T°EL6!
[10T-8E61

i102-T86!
1 102-6L61
110C-6461

1 10T-#561

110Z-9961
110Z-9261

11025961
110Z-7961
110z-e96|
110T-1961
04610961

110Z-0961

puoj Jo aspajmouy]

18843 U044 TE
199.5 U0y | £

399435 W04 {T
392435 CLY |7

18305 U044 90T

33906 JUo44 §0T
198435 Uod 807

39305 U013 YOT

AasanN syl €|
AsasanN 2yt g)

KiasanN 8yi ||
ApsanN ay ) ||
Kasanpy oy i
Lasanp ayy |

ApsanN 3yl §

AassanpN 3y

ssa.ppy

HIIMUDY LB SiAl

J2[RBUAA [1if SIIW

{maydau} 3upjary Asjurag I
sB311g epus.g Sl

{uos) s3aqoy WENIAA JiA
(uos) s112q0y pineq) Il
51430y unde] J4

upn g uled N

133418 INOYS

j00peny yaf J

1COLIES) U310 Sl
(+33y2nep) uoplag vesng sap
(4=3yBnep) suadg suui sd)|
2(49myBnep) Anyouoq aueiq S
PIEMPOOAA UBO[ SJL

e 19UE] Sy

WIEDFDY UOPJOR) J|
AYISUNN IHL

SWDN

SINIQISTY GNVYDIONY LSIM WOUL SLNIFWTLVLS SSTNLIM

WVYHYNA ALNNOD GNYTIONY LSIM
‘AHISHYNN 3H.L ANV L3ZYLS LNOYHd NIIMLIE NV 40

NOILVYLSIDIY NIAHD IDOVTUA AHISUNN ANV 303374, A3SOdO0Ud

NINNOD HSHYd ONVTADNY LSIM

Page 43



SM1 §1V8 SHIM ‘UOAY UO pojpe.g ‘350D IBUIE[E] /|
pueppny doysig ‘arosn) Aapisg 07

aJay3 (1S

34942 |ing

131 IRS

aJai (IRS

3491 |I9S

£661-9P61
110T-k561
1102-6561
11076961
HOT-0F6!
1102-Ek6I

1102-0961

392.05 plowly /)

13925 U0 |
proy doapuimig g|
A0 [BpAY §
9A0J) [EPAY §
peoy puejpdo) 9|

DAOUE) BUBMYIST £

JOMO| SLIB[BA Sl
UOSMOH IO A4
Aoy uukq sap
uolpEyD) BTEH Sl
Bupy} pAneE] SdiW
SjppaML a3 1
UOSUIGOY WENIIAA Sl

IDOVTTA 40 1534

Page 44



WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 2

Summary Table of User Evidence

Page 45



JoLuns

uIjaam e sawll £INoqy e

sawesd ||eg
ayjequnsg
Suwideid uaupiiyd

Alasinn Byl TT

G661
Jaye juanhasjul

‘uasald - 596T

uopAlg uesnsg

(13a1 03 pue| ss01IB) Yl

Jaylow Aw aylequns e
1SIA | UBUM A|JIUOW — MON  ® Aeld =
saiped auyuoq g Aepying e

}npe ue se Ajjuanbal)

ssa|‘ppydesedjeq e

nJpoys aye|

Aeid op

AasINN 3yl TT

1861
Jaye juanbayu)

fuasaud - 7961

s1aAg auuA]

Aasinpn 8yl 1T

Ajeg o

sojued aljuog
BuwiAeid uasppud
ayiequns

Aep Alan] e

, 210w Aue g|gissod Jou, e

s1y8iu asyuog

sawed Buhie|d

AlgsinN Byl TT

8861
Jaye yuanbaagul

‘juasaud — £96T

angyouoq aueig

juasald - T96T

pJempoom ueor

04 -0961

sa|yAILIe Ajlwed

Alasinp 3yl §
|

juasaud - g86T

sepd yauer

‘84 —096T N |

juassid 01 096T °N |

weylaag M 9 IW

Aasinn ayL

Aleq e XB[2l 0] e AlRSINN 3YL ¥
{pue Bujsn
Axuanbaly SEH uaym) Apadoad

Jasn/adpajmouy

Sdeap

awen

SY3asn - XiaN3addv

Page 46



I1eqiood 000Z - 2861 N
Aaam Bupjlem 193435 Ju0.d 80T 010Z — 2861 A SH3qOY Wenlim
saiq Sulply
PIIy> CIRE) :
E SE SABPI|OY pue puayaam 1221) T00Z - 6461 N
Mana = Ajendal Auap [leqiood 19815 0l goz | jussaud — 66T 1Y s13qoY piaeQ

Apjaam

BuiAeid vapyd
dupjjem
S OJ|E 0] 55200

uoilealaay

193435 JU0J4 §0T

wasaud — g/6T

SLaGoY unJen

Auadosd Aw ssaade 0] Aep

JAAI 03 3N JOYS

A19A3 6007 — 06T Ussmlag Buihed ualpjiyo 189116 1U014 Y0OT uasald — pSET uiIng uiod
182438 U044
JanLl 0] $5832Y
Ajtep Aes pjnom | shepijoy spuatly 193N S86T —0L6T N
|[ooyas Buunp — Ajjuanba.y uOI1ED123Y Alasinp 2yl €T | juesasd — 996T N joojieq yar

ApiRam

uoleaJdal s, ualpiyd

A3sINN 3Y) €T

juasald —9zeT

100410 U3AI0Q

J3AL 01 Y[BM

guiysem duiduey

SHISN :T XIANIddY

Page 47



19d Ajlwey pue
uaJp|Iya ay3 yim Ajrensay

gunjiem

uoijealdsy

anug

2JIWIBPUIM LE

TT0T 6961

uolpey) |9zeH

212 sawed jjeq Suihejd

asald — 0461

as5n [BUOISeID0

eale Aejd peoy UOIIEIS £ ‘£9—-9%6T :N
Pliy> e se Alzen3ay uoneasay peoy uonels 07 0T0Z - 9¥6T yuws jainet
Sunjods peoy puejadod
SUOI1EIO0| SNOLIBA M3IIA Mopeaiy
joam Jad 331m] 1589) 3 03 3uj03 Jo sueaw e Sy peoy uonels IT0Z - EP61 |ppam] yuay
0L6T — 0961 ||eq1004 18ansijuod g9
Aep Asang 8op ay1 yjem peoy uosdwis $T TTOZ—096T | UOSUIGOY LWEl]jIM

ade||IA jo 359y

sAema|pliq 0] s5a02€ AjteQ

ua4piyd yam duideld

Aem Jo s3y8u 21jqnd o3 ss800y

199415 Ju0Jd ZE

010Z - ¥L61

%AIMUIY UIBH

Yluow e sawl y lo

JaAu ay}

Suoje Fuiyoiem pue Supjjem

{186T — ¥£6T)
193415 JU0J4 TE

uasald - 46T

13{33YM 1M

Aes jou saoqQ

dop dupjlem
sjodg

laasuady T¢

66T — €461 N
juasald — ¢26T:M

Suipjai4 Asjuels

Aes jou 530Q

punocJidne) JJo-auQ
Sop ay) Bupjiem
suods

193415 W04 TE

0T0Z
-SET ‘€G-8E6T N
uasald - pSET N

sg85149 epuaig

SH3ISN *Z XIAN3ddY

Page 48



dunjiem E96T — 9V6T N
Ap{2am sauw) |BJBA3S Buiied | 19245 plouwsy LT 0102 — 9v6T N lamolg al4a|ep
supjjlem uaaip AepleQ LET | uasald —zS6T N
>.on B se sAep 150N BuAeld 198J15 U044 8T | Juasald —8yRTIN UOSMOH UHo)
shepijoy sawes3 ||eg TL-L96T
|00Y3s pue spusyaam Juiwunms 19215 A9)eQ TE | Uayl §3—-656T N |
Ajieinadsa ‘shep 350 SN peoy dospuieys g5 | uasaid —gS6T N | ARy mc:@.cc\,._
Buiysiy _

SHISN :Z XIAN3ddY

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 50



WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 3

Summary Table of User Interruptions

Page 51



Page 52



APPENDIX 3: USER INTERRUPTION

Name Years’ knowledge | Property Address User Interruption

or user

when using Land
(K = knowledge; ( s )

U = user)
The Nursery
Mr. G W Beecham | K: 1960 to present | 4 The Nursery e Erection of fencing and
terrible condition after motor
U: 1960 - 78;

vehicle access
1985 — present )
+ Beginning in approx, 1992

Janet Clark 1960-70 5 The Nursery s Never prevented from using
land
Joan Woodward 1961 — present 11 The Nursery « In 1993 someone fenced off

the land for a few months

trying to claim it

Diane Donohue 1963 — present; 11 The Nursery e In May 2010 the land was
infrequent after fenced off
1988

Lynne Byers 1962 - present; 11 The Nursery » Prevented from using the
infrequent after land by the fence
1981 e The land was partially fenced

off 1 -2 years ago — horses

are often in the field

Susan Brydon 1965 — prasent; 11 The Nursery e In 1993 an individual
infrequent after attempted to fence off and
1995 claim the land. The fence was

only up for a few months in

1993.

Doreen Garfoot 1926 — present 13 The Nursery * At the moment it is fenced

Page 53



APPENDIX 3: USER INTERRUPTION

off and cannot be accessed
in recent years the land has

been fenced off

Jeff Garfoot K: 1966 — present | 13 The Nursery The land has been fenced off
without permission in recent
U: 19701985
months/years
Front Street
Colin Tutin 1954 — present 20A Front Street Access could not be gained

during 19505 1960s and early
1970s
Breach of way by owner of

no. 26A to gain access

Martin Roberts

1979 — present

20B Front Street

Nursery land was fenced off
by owner of 26A in May 2010
Rear of Prince of Wales was

fenced off 2004 - 2009

David Roberts

K: 1979 — present

20B Front Street

Have never been prevented

from using the land

U: 1979 - 2001
William Roberts K: 1982 — 2010 20B Front Street Have never been prevented
from using the land
U: 1982 - 2000

Series of fences erected in

Nursery 2010

Brenda Briggs

K: 1954 — present

U: 1938-53; 1954-
2010

21 Front Street

Fencing in the Nursery early
2010 -
And at back of Prince of
Wales late 2010

Stanley Fielding

K:1973 — present

U: 1973 -1992

21 Front Street

Fencing in Nursery early

2010

Page 54




APPENDIX 3: USER INTERRUPTION

And at back of Prince of
Wales late 2010

| Will Wheeler

| 1974 — present

31 Front Street

Did not answer questions

(1974 —1981)

occasional use

1970 — present

Helen Renwick 1974 - 2010 32 Front Street Had permission to use the
land to graze pony 1979 —
1983
2009 access blocked by fence
Rest of Village
Willilam Robinson | 1960 - 2011 . 14 Simpson Road Prevented from using the
land
65 Front Street
Fence 1 year ago
Keith Tweddle 1943 - 2011 Station Road Have never been prevented
from using the land
Meadow View
Copeland Road
Laurel Smith K: 1946 — 2010 20 Station Road Not prevented/discouraged
from using the land until
U: 1946 -63; 7 Station Road

recently erected fencing

Hazel Charlton

1965 - 2011

37 Windermere

Drive

2009 - 2010 fencing has
been erected with a gate
Horses sometimes put on to

graze

Lynn Anne Rielly

K: 1959 — present

U: 1959 — 65 then
1967 - 72

59 Staindrop Road

31 Qakley Street

2009-10 fences now prevent

daCCess

3
Page 55



APPENDIX 3: USER INTERRUPTION

Colin Howson

K:1948 — present

U: 1952 — present

18 Front Street

137 Oakley Green

Prevented from using the

land by fences - recently

Valerie Blower

K: 1946 -2010

| U: 1946 - 1963

17 Arnold Street

Use prevented or
discouraged —it is now

fenced

Page 56




-azpp.m'd.)i L.

WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 4

Pre-Inquiry Objections and correspondence

Page 57



OBJECTION TO REGISTER LAND AS VILLAGE GREEN FLEECE AND

NURSERY LAND

THE RESPONSE OF MRS JOANNE CLIFF 260, FRONT STREET , WEST
AUCKLAND DL14 9HW TO THE LETTER OF WEST AUCKLAND PARISH

COUNCIL

T would like To make my comments regarding the letter submitted by the
Parish Council.

The Prince of Wales pub burnt all there rubbish behind the pub as they
would not pay for to have it taken away.

I would occasionally burn household stuff but my Father always cleared
this away.

In my opinion whatever happened on this land my Father got the blame
and the real culprits just laughed because they knew my fathers' name
was always linked to whatever happened but they didn't care what
happened 1o the land BUT my Father did and that's why he has always
cleaned up the land cut the grass and generally tried to maintain it.

T have been here since I was 12 years old and T have always used the back
way in o our properties I have played on the land with my friends, we
have, as others also, paddled in the river by the waterfall and I have also
driven over this route since T was 17 years old.

Any documents you require regarding my property are readily available
from the Land Registry.

Yours Sincerely

Mrs Joanne Cliff

25/05/2012

Page 58



Dear Ms Errington,

Please find enclosed our response letter for the objection of Application
to Register Land as Village Green - Land at West Auckland

Yours Faithfully

b

Mr A & Mr‘ﬁ“.VArmsTr'ong

27, Front Street, West Auckland. DL14 9HW

- WA,

-

25/05/2012

Page 59



OBJECTION TO REGISTER LAND AS VILLAGE GREEN FLEECE AND
NURSERY LAND.

THE RESPONSE OF MR & MRS A ARMSTRONG, 27, FRONT STREET WEST
AUCKLAND DL314 9HW.

TO THE LETTER OF WEST AUCKLAND PARISH COUNCIL

Addressing point C.1994

Stated by Parish Council late 1993 or early 1994 we began to use an opening in the
wall... we were actually using this since 1989 - 4 years previously to this statement.

March 1989 -Purchased 27, Front Strect, West Auckland
September 1989 - Purchased 24, Front Street West Auckdand

1994 - Purchased The Old Wesleyan Chapel now known as 26a Front Strect,
West Auckland

Ouir Answer:-

The caravan we resided in for a short time while 24 Front Street was modernised
was delivered by Barrons Caravans in September 1989 and brought in through the
nursery to the rear of the property, Mrs Jenny Laskey, informed us that access was
paid in the sum of 25 6d by her father, to the then Monk Brewery ( West Auckland
Brewery) in 1951, and to this end she wrole a statement to this effect. The reason
for the fee was that on our property there were pig stys, slaughter houses and
stables and vehicles came to the rear 1o take livestock to market.

Addressing point 2006

We have no say who uses the land as at this time Mr Robinsons fence was down
and the land was totally open and so in response to the Caravans parked outside
our boundary these had NOTHING to do with us it is an unfortunate situation
that a landlord of the Prince of Wales happened to be related is as I say
unfortunate he was the one that had all these caravans parked on the land not us
he was also responsible for the Bus and wagons with a crane on and the burning

of copper wire scrap elc I repeat nothing to do with us and nothing to do with our
using land as access to our property.

25/05/2012

Page 60



Addressing point 2008 - 2011

When the bollards were erected we did agree to meet with Mrs Margaret Charlton
and the Parish Council, Mrs Charlton said she would arrange a meeting to show
all documentation to support our claim and she would call at our house with
details of said meeting , but instead of an expected visit from Mrs Charlton we got
a visit from PC Andy Hucker the local beat policeman of which he promptly told
us that the Parish Council had informed him that they owmed the land, we showed
our evidence to PC Hucker and he actually said in his opinion we had more rights
than the Parish Council had to this land.

We have never refused to meet with the Parish Council.

We also have to say our wall has not been partially removed it was made safe and
straight as there were old bricks jufting out and this was smoothed with concrete
and we have photographs to show the wall before and after concreting because we
anticipated this exact response from Parish Council

The fence in the nursery was erected and on the advice of our solicitor, he said the
gates could be left open as long as we controlled the land by locking the gates,
which as Parish Council stated we have done when grazing horses and we also
lock them to keep unwanted travellers from camping on the land around
travelling time to Appleby Fair.

The laying of road planings were inspected by DCC and approved as eventually
the grass would grow through.

In support of our claim for access to Land Registry measurements and
photographs were submitted that clearly show a gap between the corner of our

wall and Mr Robinsons fence of nearly 2.5meters (7ft 6ins) which was more than
enough for our car.

Yours Faithfulli I | L

Mr Abel & Mrs Pauline

25/05/2012

Page 61



ekl Rl

Sharg Wootton, Clerk to th ounci
20 Loweswater Grove, West Auckland

BISHOP AUCKLAND QuaLTY
County Dutham DL14 9NA coUNciL

W01388 834360 & sharon.home@btopenworld.com

25" November 2011

Head of Legal Services
Durham County Council
County Hall

Durham DH15UQ

Dear SirMadam

RE: APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AS VILLAGE GREEN
FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND, WEST AUCKLAND

| refer to the letter sent to the Parish Council by Jill Errington (Senlor Committes
Services Officer, Corporate Services) on 7 November 2011, enclosing copies of the
two objection letters received against the proposed designation of the Fleece and
Nursery Land in West Auckland as village green. The letter invited our comments on
the objections and these are attached to this letter. From that responge you will note
that we take Issue with the objectors on a number of points.

In essence we wholly challenge Mr and Mrs Armstrong’s and Mr and Mrs Cliffs
access (Route 2), occupation and fencing of the Nursery land, noting thelr :
trespassing on private land to achleve that access. Wa also challange their cavalier
occasional occupation of the Fleece land. His access across the Flgeca land (Route
1) is algo challenged in the absence of documentation.

The Parish Council is aware that, in their consideration of these proposals and
objections, and in reaching a recommendation to its members, County Councll
officers have the option of recommending a public inquiry. Before such options are
considered, the Parish Council would be kesn to sit down in more informat
surroundings than an inquiry, with officers and objectors, to discuss the proposal, in
particular to establish what &ll parties agree on and precisely where they differ.

Should this proposal ultimately end up in a public inquiry, it would be one of the first
tasks of all parties, usually before the inquiry, to agree ‘common ground’ so that the

inspector can be clear about the issues In dispute. Such a meeting now would
usefully clarify what is quite a complicated land issue.

1of2

Page 62



To that end, before the Parish Council attended such a meeting, it would be good to
know the objectors’ view of the Background History repart we preparad {o
accompany our submisslon. Speclfically we would wish to know what aspects they
disagree with in the report. That could usefully form the basis of our discussions

Yours sincerely

=

Sharon Wootton
Clerk to the Council

20f2

Page 63



2y I

| Parish @@Mﬂ@lm

OUAI.I'I"I‘

APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND AS VILLAGE GREEN catmen
FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND, WEST AUCKLAND

THE RESPONSE OF WEST AUCKLAND PARISH COUNCIL
TO THE OBJECTION LETTERS OF
(1)MR & MRS A ARMSTRONG AND (2) MRS JOANNE CLIFF

1 LETTER OF MR & MRS A ARMSTRONG

General comments

1.1 Mr Armstrong's letter menilons a 1980 letter from a Jane Laskey, as being
aftached to his objection letter. West Auckland Parish Council {(PC) has not
recaived a copy of this letter.

1.2 The map accompanying the letter is inaccurate and has not reproduced
colours faithfully and sometimes not at all. For example on the plan the
‘Flzece’ proposed green land (coloured bluey-green on our copy) excludes
the land behind the Prince of Wales PH and includes the fenced and walled
private gerdens behind nos 20, 204, 20R and 24 Front Straat, Furthermors,
the house 24 Front Street (brown. but actually pink on our plan) does not have
its rear garden demarcated in colour at all. The ‘Nursery’ proposed green land
is & slightly greener version of the Fleece land - are they meant to be the
same colour? Can we suggest that Mr and Mrs Armstrong resubmit this plan

on the basis of the plan we have submitied which we believe to have accurate
boundaries.

Specific Comments

1.3  Addressing the statement by Mr Abel Armstrong, we would respond {o his
aight points in {urn.

Point 1

14 The PC would welcome a copy of evidence of purchase of 24 Front Street in
1889 logether with a plan showing the house and land attached.

Point 2

1.5 Vehicular access fo Mr Armsirong's rear garden at the time of his purchase
was solely through a pedestrian gate in his side wall, which still survives. So
he could not get a caravan onto his own land from the rear. Did he get it
through the Front Strect arch? At come time ofier purchose and before 1804
he breached the rear garden wall to make the new vehicular opening now
used. It would be helpful to know precisely when this was done.

Point 3
18  Thir is whara tha enlanr nenhlam is impartant  Whan Mr Amistming aRnaskr of

access over the ‘green land’ is he talking about both Fleece and N'ﬁrﬁew
land?

Page 64



1.7

1.8

1.8

1.10

1.11

1.12

Y
Y
(&)

1,44

As & generai point, the matter ot caravans DOtN ON 'green’ 1ana ana 1\aKing
access across it, extends beyond Mr Armstrong's ownership and that of his
daughter and son-in-law, Mr John-Paul and Mrs Joanne CIiff, to their wider
family and friends. At iimes thers have been upwards of six to sight caravans
on the Fleece land, In addition friends and family visiting Mr and Mrs
Armnstrong and/or Mr and Mrs Clifi, icutingly patk thsir cars or trucks on the
Fleece land rather than enter his parking area within his garden.

Specifically, Mr Armetrong and his family had no vehicular access between
1884 and 2006 through the Nursery (his route No.2) because the adjacent
land wes fenced off b hu Mr Stevan Pnhlnnnn rlunnn an asdvares nnenaeuinn
claim. The gap left by Mr Robinscn between his claimed land, and the Fleece
and Nursery land, was approximately one metre — only a pedestrian width.
Venhicular access was thus impossible along Route No2 and only became
possible again when Mr Robinson's fence was removed by members of the
Wood family in 20086. assisted by members of Mr Armstrona's family.

The current vehicular gap, of approximately two metres, in width was created
post-2006 by Mr Armstrong and his family repositioning Mr Robinson's corner
post further west, so that the vehicular route now used by Mr Armstrong, his

family, friends and business colleaguss is actually trespassing on Mr
Kobinsan's land.

Mr Robinson has plenning parmission to erect two dwellings on his land, with
the boundary defined by a high stone wall, thus restoring the one metre
pedestrian gap at the comer. The prectse boundaries of Mr Robinson S Iand.
fi.i“:y’ EUW'E}'ECI' ana glimsnalonsd, with ths pcucatﬁan yap SVINETit, &Te mny
documented in the Land Registry. The construction of the stone wall along Mr
Robinson’s boundary will deny vehicular access from the Fleecs jand to the
Nursery land, although it should be noted thal in an attempt to slightly widen
the gap, Mr Ammstrong has shaved off some of the stonework from the comer

of hiz cwn wall,

Point 4

The PC has not had sight of this letter, Our understanding from local
residents is that historically the narrow side gate accessing (via Route 1) this
rear qarden land was used once a vear by the owner of 24 Front Street to
removed garden praduce. It was very much a secondary access, rarely used.
Certainly it was impossible to get a vehicle inlo the rear garden bafore Mr
Armstrong breached the wall sometime betwaen 1988 and 1894,

The exient of Mr Armatrong’s vehicular access to Frant Streat (Route 1), if it
STl exists, Nas not been proven as the FU have seen no documentation. It
may have applied to his occupation of 24 Front Street, from which he has now
moved. It certainly does not extend to his neighbours, who coincidentally, are
members of his family.

Ik e b wwd

T e m = crmm oo Jow

(Nas 19, ZOB 21 22!3 Front Streel) Their use of thalr accesses is very
occasional and sec:ondary to their Front street frontage.

Point 5

Thizic g hmhlu ingrourota ctatamant. Tha land enlnurad araon — whirh wa

take to be the Fleece and Nursery land ~ has not ba used on a daily basis for

Page 65



1.1

1.16

117

1.18

1.18

1.20

Page 66

the grazing or NOrses Dy Mr Armstrong and nis famiy, srazing Is at best
intermittent and at &ll times both areas of land have been available for public
recreation by all local residents. This intermittent grazing has, by tres
rubbing, killed at |east one of the trees planted by the community twenty years
ago. We would aocapt that intermittently Mr Armstrong and his family have
placedior allowsd caravans on this and (with powsT Cabiss badk o thelr
house), as well as undertaking the bumning of industrial waste and scrap,
matters taken up by DCC enforcement officers.

Raute 1 (to the south) is at best a secondary, domestic access for the very
nrcoeinnal uea nfo cmgln nigre of !gnrl fnrrngrlu _I;e!gpnmn tn 24 Front Qtraat
and now, we understand attached ta Mr Armstrong 8 new praoperty at 27 Front
Street. It would be helpful to see the ownership curtilages of both 26a and 27
Front Street in this respect. Route 2, as stated above, was not used for
twelve years between 1994 and 2006. We would assume that no vehicular
access rights from the rear aarden of 27 Front Street can therefora attach to
No 26a Front Street?

Two aspects add some complexity to this issue of access and land use.
Firstly the matter of who has access, if at all. If the owner of 24 Front Strest
did once have very occasional (once a year) access to the padestrian gale in
nis wall, 1o Wnom aoes tnat ngnt Now passy 24 tront Street 1S now owned by
local dentists but its land was retained by Mr Ammstrong when he and his wife
moved {o 27 Front Street in 2008. The greatest vehicular use of the land
(cars, transit vans, horseboxes, etc) is made by Mr and Mrs Cliff of 26a Front
Strest, whose property, wo suspect, enjoys no establishad vehicular rights

wmn myrbalfe ame -

aGiusa l‘lﬂ'ﬂﬂ pUUIN DpaLT,

The second matter is the nature and degree of that access. Access once a
year to a pedestrian galte is a world away from vehicular access on a daily
basis, upwards of 20 times a day at times, by commercial vans, horseboxes
end nrivate carg, enmetimae lomieg, onca a doubla.deckar bug by tha

objectors, their family and friends.

Point 6

Photograph 6 cannot be taken in 2004-5, as Mr Robinson's land was fully
fenced off at that time. aliowinag no access fo the Nursery land. Our quess is
that this Is likely to be taken in late 2008 or 2007, after the fence had been
taken down and Mr Armstrong and family had begun driving north through
The Nursery (Route 2).

Responding to the photographs at this point, we would only note that the
venicular gates snown in FRoto B, 8s dated ~1¥BY/YU , were venicuiar gates
put in by Mr Armstrong after purchase. They were not there already. The PC
believed these were put in some time after purchase in 1989, because it was
the development of Roule 2 through the Nursery by Mr Armstrong that led to a
confrontation with residents, police and local councillors thet resulted in the

AARA L nwe beflomw secmbad oo Maclcssciimd | Hlalomd
1T 191 IVGa WO Y SITUCW (DO Dauhyivulig 1 11Iown Y ).

Point 7

This is an inaccurate and inflammatory statement. The green land — wa take
this to ba both Fleece and Nursery land ~ is comman public land for the
nnlnumnnl of all — anr cubmiceinn damnnetratae that avar much nf the
twentieth century. As a local resident, Mr Armstrong and his family are entitled
1o enjoy that land for public recreation as much as anyone in the village. But



1.21

1.22

1.23

1.44

1.25

1.26

elr excessive venicular access nas besn challenged by resigents ana the
parish council. Their use of the land for caravans and for industrial bonfires
has been dealt with by WVDC and DCC enforcement officars, and their failure
to remove their own property and litter from thase public spaces has been a
continuing imritant to local residents. {A trampoline and chairs belonging to Mr
ared hars Cliv sl intat the Tisacs land). This i5 public 18 Leionging 1o an o

the residents, not for the exclusive use of Mr Ammstrong and his family.

The families' use of this land and access was challenged by the Parish
Council in 2008 and 2008, with written requests to see what documentation
thov had in cunnat thair accage rinhte neaducing nn rasnnnee whatenavar,
This is summarised In our Background History report (p5-6), but enlarged with
further details here.

In February 2008, the Parish Council placed a legal Caution on both areas of
land. Subsequently in an effort to improve the area within the Nurserv the PC
asked Sones Landscaping to create amenity planting areas within the Nursery
land, but Scnes were stopped by Mr Armstrong and his son-in-law parking a
loiry across the sile. Later in 2008 the PC ereciad bollards around the
Nursesy green area to prevent vehicular accass. Some of these bollards
were removed, after which a site meeting occumred with parish councillors and
the police prasent at whicn the FC agreed, temporanly, 10 one poliard baing
removed by Armstrong, without conceding any right of access. The police
advised they had no role as this was a civil matter.

in 2009, the PC's solicitor wrote to Mr Armstrong about his vehicular access,
fonowaa by & FO Ishiar. i responss Vi ANnsuoig Claimsd nié had
documents claiming accass through the Nursery, though his solicitor's !etier,
actually refers to an old access on Route 1 (to Front Strest), not through the
Nursery (Route 2). A further letter from the PC requesting sight of the access

cieim never elicitad a responsa from Mr Armstrong.

I e above paragrapns, rellecting our Hackgrouna History repon, consnirm tnat
Mr Armstrong’s occupation of the Nursery land did not go unchallenged.

Maintenance of the Fleece and Nursery land does not convey ownership or
access rights. At !east three other owners have routinely cut the grass
oiinsides thait Gwin gardsns, ons To7 85 o &3 02 ySais, witout SVar Tanming
ownership. It is done simply to improve the appearance of the area for the
benefit of all. Mr Armstrong and his family have only recently begun
maintaining this land in the past year or two. Historically the land was

maintained by WVDC but after 1994 only the Nursery land was maintained by
them, and since Mr Armetmng erectad hic fances DCE [ae siccaseors in
WVDC), have not camied out any work. Had Mr Armstrong and his family not
created new vehicular roules where none previously existed, the fences would
not have been erected and loca! suthority maintenance of the entire area
might well still be in place. it was Mr Armstrong's actions over the past twenty

two vears that caused the abandonment of WVDC/DCC around maintenance.

Point 8

We would welcoma sight of the conveyancing document relating to the house
and land at 27 Front Street.

vonciusion

Page 67



121/

M
N

2.4

25

2.6

2.7

Page 68

1his IS & totally Inaccurate and untrue statement, as e very substantve
submission made by the Parish Council, supported by a great many witness
statements, makes abundantly clear. This land has a long tradition of
recrealional use by many people for the benefit of the whole village.

LEl IEK UF MRS JUANNE CLIFF

The Parish Council will respond to the letter, taking each paragraph in tum.

First paragraph

Ble we onmew ol
1Y LA 1R,

Second paragraph
The actions of Mr Robinson are not in digpute, aithiough children continued fo
play alongside the river as they could access the land behind the fence line.

1 hirg paragraph

The remaining land {the Fleace and Nursery land) is still used for recreational
enjoyment although the actions of Mr Armstrong'’s and Mrs Cliff's families in
intermittently parking cars, vans, horse boxes and equipment on the land,
grazing horses and buming industrial waste do not encourage community
adtivily. Nevaitheleas that Cofunilinity Souvity 1185 NSveTl G8as80, Ong
specific activity, the communal sitting out of Nursery residents around their
small green area and tree, has been tempaorarily stopped by the post-2006
vehicular access and more recent fencing of the land undertaken by Mr
Amnstrong. This simple raecreational activity within their communal area was
murh aniovad by slderly racidants nardiculorly, and Mr Armetrana’e antinna

have stopped it

The PC would reiteraie that it is both the vehicular routes taken and the level
of activity that they oppose. This is not a minor occasional use by one or two
domestic cars. but a very sianificant semi-commercial use by several private
cars (not just two), many open Transit vans with scrap metal, horse boxes,
elc, all to the detriment of the residential amenities of local houses and the
communal activities on the open land. Frequently these vehicles are parked
on tha green areas while business Is transacted.

t-ourtn paragrapn

The PC accepts that during the tenancy period of the adjacent Prince of
Wales PH by a relation (brother-in-law) of Mrs Cliff, the distinction between
whose vehicles were using the open land were blurred. But some of the
caravans on this land had power cables linked back through the vehicular
SCCE5S UsS0 Ly Wi &ni0 Wirs ATstiong and wir and niis Siitl, ano 5o st

have been there with their blessing.

Fifth paragraph

Mr Armstrong erected his fence in the Nursery for the simple purpose of
nrotacting hia vahicular Route 2 and anpavina tha lond tn the aveluchva usa of
his family, all to the huge detriment of Nursery residents, who have enjoyed its
open amenity character for almost a century at ieast, certainly as far back as
the 1920s. If Mr Armstrong had respected the narrow pedestrian gate
between the Fleece and Nurssery open areas and not widened it to create a
vehicular route. then travellers would not be able to qain access to the Fleece



28

2.9

2.10

1ang, except by the narrow alley onto Front Street, which generally prevents
caravan access. By his own actions he caused the travellers to come onto
the land.

There was a caravan on the Fleece land pre-Appleby Fair this year, cleary

theie with the agreamanit of Mir and Mis ATmstiong and of M aind s Cills,
The self-congratulatory tone of the end of this paragraph stating that ‘we even

mow the grass to keep it tidy, elc’ is a little rich, to put it mildly. The PC
relterates, it was Mr Armstrong's fencing of this land that caused the local

authority {0 elon cutting the grace, Had ha not dong g0, the Murgeny land
would still be weall maintained. We beliave the family is maintaining the land
solely in the mistaken believe that maintenance of land somehow bestows

ownership, which, of course, it does not.

Final paraaraph

This paragraph is a frank admission that both families acknowledgs - ‘we now
have control over this land’ ~ that they have taken over and fenced land over
which they have absolutely no claim to access or ownership.

Page 69



Yot

O

Page 70

STATEMENT OF ABEL ARMSTRONG

I Abel Armstrong of 27 Front Street West Auckland in the County of Durham DL14
9HW, will say as follows:



1. 1, with my wife Pauline Armstrong, purchased our property ("our property”) at 24
Front Street West Auckland in October 1989. This property is marked brown on the
attached plan.

2. At the time of the purchase of our property we could not take up immediate
occupation as major renovation warks were required. We purchased a large caravan
to live in and this was siled on the rear garden to our property (marked yellow on the
attached plan).

3. In order {o site the caravan it had to be driven to our property over the land
coloured green on the attached plan. We have owned caravans for over 21 years
and these have baen stored on our gerden (the yellow land). We have used access
over the green land to get them to our garden and 1o store and park our other
vehicles. The approximate position of the access roads ('the access roads") are
coloured red on the attached plan.

4. When we purchased our property one of the previous owners, Jane Laskey stated
that access to our property had been exercised openly over the green land and that
she had knowledge thal this had taken place since 1951, She also stated that access
had taken place without any challenge or payment save that her father had paid a

sum of 2s 6d on one occasion. | attach a copy of a letter she provided me with in
1990 before she died.

5. Since our purchase in 1889 we have conlinued to use the land coloured green on
a daily basis for grazing our horses and for vehicular access to and from our property
to the south to the pubiic highway (access road no.1 on the plan) and to the north to
The Nursery (access road no.2 on the plan).

6. | exhibit herewith a Google Map photograph (numbered 1) recently obtained from
the internet which § believe shows the property in 2004/5 which clearly shows our
caravan retuming and the access roads. | also exhibit further photographs
(numbered 2-7) that confirm the ragular and constant use of the access roads and
the rear garden gates. The photograph numbered 8 shows the gates in place that
have baen used dally since 1988, | have made explanatory notes on the reverse of
the photographs.

7. Over the period of time of our ownership of our property we have cut down nettles
and ragwort on the green land and used It as our own openly and freely at all
diffarent times without let hindrance or challenge by any third party. And we have not
made any payment to any third party.

8. We sold 24 Front Street in March of 2009 (retaining our garden-the yellow land)
and moved into 27 Front Street (colourad pink). We have continued to use the green
tand and the access roads over the green land in the same way.

We wish to register our objection to the reglstration of the land coloured green as

Village Green as we do not believe that it has been used for that purpose at anytime.
Apart from ourselves the land has been only used by dog-walkers and people using it
as a short cut 1o the Front Street and back. The only piece of land that was ever used

for recreational purposes was near to the river and this is now owned by MrS D
Rabinson.

Page 71



-

ILLUSTRAVIVE PLAN

DURHAM : VIEAR VALLEY

+

CROMANCE SURTEY 1A REFERINGE: iciniey I soALe LR

IR COFTRCIHT Produeed iy AR Acthid e tm tnnttdhe crlapt b prermulsd it Ba pint wtfraptmizat=y el S ey Loy, Lot K= S TS,
\

1 L4

it g

Py = gy e T TR T R b S o e W e

ot Y -
- - - - ey LA
—aLmeCTT PP Y X T ¥ 3 e

-""--___—__----'h 1
.
b} 'l
1Y -
\ T L'+
-
s
]
L]
unt -
a i= ™ afle jm
gy
m———— - e
S b —-— ]
e ————
T ot ‘-,’
=
e - e
—————— A | am==T,
== L= g
—
- -
ezzzd
__..-:_:— -
I ety ay
-— =T
| =" -
r - ——————
= L I upgeinpiint.dog PR
emmsose= TheLm-
- _——
et T ST
T - S

Thia pln thews the gunzss] pratdan of tha bounds’sy It =29 nc} shicw G £2251 Bna o bnodaries. L3
Vaasoromess 1caled rem R plan g ot m‘ta:ﬂmmh:amhsaﬂtuhhnmm - U

-



O

7~

OeriaL Puoto OF NEHicLE BNTERING AeoPERTY

AFRDX 2004(s D)

TRACKS -TO0 TFRONT STIREET

oNPLM

&

Page 73



27D Y " Google Maps

GOUSIC maps ﬁwe&r( Bishop Auckland, DL14

ey
Uil

Page 74

Page 1 of | .

O

9 To see all the delalls that are visible on the
scraen, use the Print link naxt 1o the map

PBipl Send  Link




TRAKS RoM  GHTE TD .
NuRseRrRY N on Puer @

VIEW FROM GARDEN ONTO LAND. @

Page 75



©
N~
(0]
()]
5
[a



ViEw FROM GrADEN SHOWING CATES, STABLE :
CAROVANS AanD CAR .@

View Fomn LAND IN”E;D GARDEN . |

Pioruee OF ACoESs GAES @
I"zS“f/Gzo when propm‘{:j purchased.

Page 77






| !
o

I make this Statement believing the cantents to be true.

Signed

Dated Q"T”I le ,‘LO L\

Page 79



% Ms E‘mr;rj{-nn

Ha  Objechon to Qaﬂ'\sm Lamd —West Aockdond

R

-

Page 80



26a Front Strest

West Auckiand

Bishop Auckland

Co. Purham

DL14 9HW 30/10/2011

Dear Sirs,

My name is Mrs Joanne Cliff and [ am writing to you with my abjection to
the granting of village green status to the land known as The Nursery and
The Fleece land in West Aucldand.

i have lived here with my parents since 1989, I was 12 years old, and as kids
we all used to play down by the waterfall which was a local attraction, we
used to have picnics there and with our fishing nets catch fish, but in 1994
Mr Raobinson erected a fence to claim adverse possession around the area
where the wateriall is and all that activity stopped as no-one could get near
the waterfall anymore.

The only uses for this land since then has been for people to walk their dogs
and to get from the Nursery to Front Street and back and we have used this
since 1989 for grazing our horses and access to the rear of my parents [and,
for our caravan, which is only out occasionally in the summer and for our
horsebox to cccasionally transport our horses to the vets etc, other than that
we do use it daily for our car.

Whenever anyone came up the back my father was mentioned, but at the
time we were not the only people using this land as access as there has been
a mention of a double-decker bus and a large wagon with a crane a wagons
loaded with scrap, and I must admit this made a real mess of the land,
Travellers parked on the land and we actually asked these to move off this
land which they did, once again my father was mentioned, when in actual
fact all this activity was down to Mr Micheal Cliff who had the tenancy of the
Prince of Wales pub at the time.

This however has all ceased and we are the only ones travelling over this
land and to make sure there is no more ploughing of the land and to stop
wagons and caravans parking here my father erected a fence around the
area in the Nursery 2 years ago, within this fence there is a large gate that
can be locked and sometimes it is especially around Appleby time, but there
are two small gates in so that people can still walk through to get from the
Nursery to Front Street and back, there is one vehicle track clearly marked,
so therefore the green is left untouched we even mow the grass to keep it
tidy and have even planted some flowers around the fence.

I would finally like to add that where we now have control over this land
regarding travellers parking etc, the residents of the Nursery still have
travellers parking behind their houses on council ground .

Yours Sincerely ‘

Mrs Joanne Cliff

Page 81



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 82



WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 5

Inspector’s Report

Page 83



IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN
AS THE FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND, WEST AUCKLAND

AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN

REPORT

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 This Report relates to an Application (“the Application™) made under section
15(1) of the Commons Act 2006 (“the 2006 Act”) to register land known as The
Fleece and Nursery Land, West Auckland (“the Land”) as a town or village green.
Under the 2006 Act, Durham County Council, as the Registration Authority, is
required to register land as a town or village green where the relevant statutory
requirements have been met. The Registration Authority instructed me to hold a non-
statutory public inquiry into the Application, to consider all the evidence and then to
prepare a Report containing my findings and recommendations for consideration by

the Authority.

1.2 I held such an Inquiry over 2 days, namely on 26 and 27 June 2013. [ also

undertook an accompanied site visit on 27 June 2013, together with an

unaccompanied visit around and within the locality.

Page 84 2



IN THE MATTER OF AN APPLICATION TO REGISTER LAND KNOWN
AS THE FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND, WEST AUCKLAND

AS A TOWN OR VILLAGE GREEN

REPORT
of Miss Ruth Stockley

13 October 2013

Durham County Council
County Hall
Durham

DH1 SUL

Application Number: NL36

Page 85



1.3 Prior to the Inquiry, T was invited to make directions as to the exchange of
evidence and of other documents. Those documents were duly provided to me by both
Parties which significantly assisted my preparation for the Inquiry. The Applicant
produced a bundle of documents containing its supporting evidence questionnaires,
witness statements, photographs and other documentary evidence in support of the
Application and upon which it wished to rely, which I shall refer to in this Report as
“AB”. The Objectors produced a bundle of documents containing their witness
statements, photographs and other documentary evidence in support of their Objection
and upon which they wished to rely, which 1 shall refer to as “OB”. In addition, each
Party provided a skeleton argument setting out an outline of their case. 1 have read all
the documents contained in the bundles and each of the skeleton arguments and taken

their contents into account in this Report.

1.4 Temphasise at the outset that this Report can only be a set of recommendations
to the Registration Authority as 1 have no power to determine the Application nor any
substantive matters relating thereto. Therefore, provided it acted lawfully, the
Registration Authority would be free to accept or reject any of my recommendations

contained in this Report.

2. THE APPLICATION

23] The Application was made by West Auckland Parish Council c/o Sharon Hall,
Clerk to the Council, 20, Loweswater Grove, West Auckland, Bishop Auckland DL14
ONA (“the Applicant”) and is dated 08 August 201 1.' It was received by the

Registration Authority on 1 August 2011. Part 5 of the Application Form states that

' The Application is contained in AB section 3.

Page 86 3



the Land sought to be registered is usually known as “The Fleece and Nursery Land”,
and its location is described as “Land between Front Street and The Nursery, North of
The Green, West Auckland”. A map was submitted with the Application which shows
the Land subject to the Application outlined and haiched in bold.? In part 6 of the
Application Form, the “locality or neighbourhood within a locality” in respect of
which the Application is made is stated to be “West Auckland Village, now central to
the West Auckland Parish Council Administrative Area”, and a map of the West

Auckland Parish Council Area was submitted with the Application.’

2.2 The Application is made on ihe basis that section 15(2) of the 2006 Act
applies, which provision contains the relevant qualifying criteria. The justification for
the registration of the Land is set out in Part 7 of the Form. The Application is verified
by a statutory declaration in support made on 08 August 2011. As to supporting
documentation, evidence questionnaires, a background history and other documents in

support as identified in Part 10 were submitted with the Application.

2.3 The Application was duly advertised by the Registration Authority as a result
of which an objection (“the Objection”) was received from Mrs Joanne Cliff of 26a
Front Street, West Auckland and from Mr and Mrs Armstrong of 27 Front Street,

West Auckland (“the Objectors™).

2.4 | have been provided with copies of all the above documents in support of and
objecting to the Application which I have read and the contents of which I have taken

into account in this Report.

? AL AB section 4.
* ALAB section 5.

Page 87



2.5  Having received such representations, the Registration Authority determined
to arrange a non-statutory inquiry prior to determining the Application which [ duly

held.

2.6  Atthe Inquiry, the Applicant was represented by Mr James of Counsel and the
Objectors were represented by Mr Hood of Anthony Walters & Co Solicitors. Any
third parties who were not being called as witnesses by the Applicant or the Objectors
and wished to make any representations were invited to speak, and one additional

person did so.

3 THE APPLICATION LAND
3.1 The Application Land is identified on the map submitted with the Application

on which it is outlined and hatched in bold.*

3.2 It comprises two linked but distinct parcels of land known as The Fleece and
The Nursery respectively. They were separate parcels until the mid 1970’s, were then
joined until 1994, and have subsequently been linked by a narrow strip of land. They

comprise flat, open and undeveloped areas of grassed open space.

3.3  The Fleece is located to the north of Front Street. Access to it is unrestricted
from Front Street via an alleyway to the east of 19a Front Street which is not adopted
highway according to Durham County Council’s highway records. The Fleece is also

accessed from The Nursery. To the north lies an area of land owned by one Mr

4 AL AB section 4.

Page 88 5



Robinson pursuant to an adverse possession claim and beyond that the River
Gaunless. The Fleece also directly abuts the River at its north western edge. To the
east is the boundary wall to Mr Armstrong’s land. To the south are properties along

Front Street, including the Prince of Wales public house. To the west are allotments.

34  The Nursery is located to the west of Station Road and is accessed via a
Garage on the corner of an unadopled highway at its junction with Station Road as
well as from The Fleece. It is a roughly square shaped area of land. It is bound by
residential properties to the north and the east, by Mr Armstrong’s land to the south,

and by Mr Robinson’s land to the west.

3.5  The Land is reasonably well maintained. There is a defined vehicular route on
the ground running across both parcels of the Land. Horses were tethered on The

Fleece at the time of the site visit. There are no signs nor furniture on the Land.

4. THE EVIDENCE

4.1 Turning to the evidence, 1 record at the outset that every witness from both
Parties presented their evidence in an open, straightforward and helpful way. Further,
I have no reason to doubt any of the evidence given by any witness, and | regard each
and every witness as having given credible evidence to the best of their individual

recollections.

472 The evidence was not taken on oath.

Page 89



4.3  The following is not an exhaustive summary of the evidence given by every
witness to the Inquiry. However, it purports to set out the flavour and main points of
each witness’s oral evidence. 1 assume that copies of all the written evidence will be
made available to those members of the Registration Authority determining the
Application and so I shall not rehearse their contents herein. | shall consider the
evidence in the general order in which each witness was called at the Inquiry for each

Party.

CASE FOR THE APPLICANT

Oral Evidence in Support of the Application

4.4 Mr Jeff Garfoot’ currently lives at 6 Rush Park, Bishop Auckland, which is
approximately 3 miles away from the Land and outside the locality of West Auckland.
However, he lived at 13 The Nursery from 1966 until 1991. His Mother continues to
reside there whom he visits on a weekly basis every Sunday, and he lived there with

his Mother for 1 year in 2005.

4.5  His own personal use of the Land was prior to 1991, namely from 1970 until
1985, when he used it as a child. Since then, during his weekly visits to his Mother as
an adult, and whilst he lived there in 2005, he has played on The Nursery with his
own Daughter, who was born on 5 November 1997 and lived with him at weekends,
and with his cousin’s three children who are now in their early twenties and live in
West Auckland. Such use has taken place during the last 10 years. There was {ree and
open access to The Nursery. He .did not use The Fleece 1o play with the children as

there were often horses tethered on there and so horse droppings were on The Fleece.

* His wilness staiement, evidence questionnaire and an ¢-mail are at AB section 23,

Page 90 7



He confirmed that he had not seen children playing on The Fleece during the last 20
years. He has two dogs which are 7 years old and which he walks along the River and
through the Land, and he has done such dog walking up until 2011 and thereafter as
he sometimes brings his dogs when he visits his Mother. He has also played {ootball
and cricket on The Nursery during the last 20 years. He has ridden his bicycle on the
cycle track along the River and then across the Land in the last 20 years to get to his
Mother’s house on a Sunday morning. He has not cycled around the Land generally,
though, nor has he seen others doing so. He went kite flying with his Daughter on The

Nursery on one occasion in 2005.

4.6  As to other uses of the Land referred to in section 23 of his evidence
questionnaire, the team games he saw played on the Land, the blackberry picking he
saw on the Land and the bonfires were all prior to 1991. He has seen his Mother and
her friend picnicking on The Nursery under the tree shown in the Applicant’s
photograph dated 11 June 2013,° but he last saw that use around 10 or 11 years ago. It
would be dangerous to do that on the Land now as a track from Station Road through
the middle of The Nursery has been formed which vehicles use. As to general
walking, people have always used the route down the River, through the Land and
onto Front Street. That route was used as a short cut. There was previously a worn
path across the centre of The Fleece and the District Council used to maintain it.
Other than seeing The Fleece used as a right of way, he has not himself seen it being
used in the last 20 years, although he has not been living in the area over that period.
Similarly, in the last 20 years, he has only seen people using The Nursery as a right of

way and not generally for other uses. There are not many children living in The

® At AB section 16 photograph 10.

Page 91



Nursery at preseni. He never sought any permission for his use of the Land, never

used the Land by stealth and never used any force to access the Land.

4.7 Mr Martin Roberts’ has lived at 20B Front Street, formerly a public house
called “The Fleece”, since 1979. He is also a member of West Auckland Parish

Council, namely the Applicant.

4.8  He has seen various activities on the part of the Land known as The Fleece. He
has 3 children born in 1978, 1980 and 1982 who played on The Fleece until around
2001. They played rounders, football, cricket and general games. They have flown
kites on the Land until around 2000. They did not go to The Nursery which was “very
much the domain™ of residents of The Nursery. When children lived at the houses at
The Nursery, they played on that part of the Land. In terms of his own use of the
Land, he has not used it for dog walking, but he has used it during the last 2 years to
pick elderflowers. His main use of the Land was as a short cut from his house to
various local facilities, such as the Spa shop on Station Road and the doctor’s surgery.
He walked along the diagonal route through The Nursery. That was a frequently used
route. Others walked through the Land from the River. Fishing took place on the
Land, but that was constrained by fencing that was erected in 1994 by Mr Robinson
along the northern boundary of The Fleece and the western boundary of The ]‘\Iurs;f:ry.8
However, access to the Land remained open via a pedestrian gap between the south
eastern corner of the fencing and the north western corner of Mr Armstrong’s land
and it was possible to get behind the fencing in order to fish. The Weir is located

behind Mr Robinson’s land. Dog walkers and general walkers have constantly used

7 His witness staiement and evidence questionnaire are at AB section 19.
% As shown on the plan at AB section 14 where the fencing is identified as A-B and B-C and C-D. The
pedestrian gap was left between points B and Y.

Page 92 0



the Land. Since the fencing in 1994, they invariably cut through it along a diagonal
route. People have picked elderberries along the River bank. Children’s parties have
spilled out from their house onto the Land, which he organised until around 2000.
Bonfires have been regularly held by the public house on the Land,’ including in the
last 20 years, the last one being around 4 or 5 years ago. He acknowledged that more
recently, the Land has been used mostly by those surrounding it. Previously, until
around 1994 when it was regularly maintained by the District Council, it was
regularly used by children. The public house, namely the Prince of Wales, closed in
December 2012. Between around 2004 and 2009, a square area at the rear of that
public house was unlawfully fenced off, but it is now opc:n.IU The owners of the pub
did not own that land and were not entitled to fence it off. None of the activities on

the Land were done by force, in secret or with permission.

4.9  He has regularly cut the grass on the Land in front of his house since 1994
when the District Council stopped maintaining it as shown on the photograph of that
part of the Land."' Between 1991 and 1994, the Land was fully grassed. There are
horses on the Land at present. The entrance onto the Land from Front Street'” via an
alleyway is around 2.4 metres wide so a car is able to drive down it, although there is
a sharp turn to get in or out. He has a vehicular private right of way along that

alleyway.

? The area used is shown as a large grey area on the Google Map at AB section 12,
' The area enclosed is shown on the Google Map at AB section 12,

'* At AB section 16 fifth photograph.

2 As shown at AB section 16 first photograph.

10

Page 93



4.10  He had compiled a detailed background history of the Land which was before
the Inquiry and which he helpfully went through at the Inquiry.H Historically, The
Fleece and The Nursery were separate and were accessed via Front Street and Station
Road respectively. In relation to the relevant 20 year period, he pointed out that in late
1993 or early 1994, Mr Armstrong, the owner of 24 Front Street, began to use a
vehicular opening he had created in the stone wall forming the eastern boundary of
The Fleece. Vehicles were taken to and from that entrance north east through The
Nursery and south west onto Front Street via the alley beside 19 Front Streel. The
landlord of the Prince of Wales erected fencing on The Fleece at that time to seek to
stop Mr Armstrong’s use of the Land as a vehicular route. Considerable concerns
were voiced by local residents against such use of the Land and ownership issues over
the Land arose. Ultimately, that led to only an area of land formerly occupied by 6
Mill houses by the River remaining fenced by Mr Robinson who has subsequently
acquired adverse possession of such land. Such fencing maintained a pedestrian route
only between The Fleece and The Nursery, so Mr Armstrong’s vehicular access was
then limited to via Front Street, as vehicular access to The Nursery from The Fleece
was thereby prevented. The Nursery was then in pristine condition as a result. That
fencing was removed in 2006, whereafter the Armstrong family have again taken
vehicular access through The Nursery on a regular basis including large commercial

vehicles. Wear Valley District Council ceased maintaining The Fleece around 1994.

4.11 In addition, for brief periods during the 1990’s and up until the mid 2000’s,
the area of the Land immediately behind the Prince of Wales public house has been

fenced and/or gated by tenants of the public house. It is currently fully open. The

¥ At AB section 6.

Page 94 11



Land has never been fully enclosed and open access to it has always remained.
Moreover, although the creation of a vehicular track through the Land is “a huge
disincentive to the recreational use” of it, that recreational use has not entirely ceased
as the Land is still used for activities including public access, dog walking and sitting
out. There remained quite a large area available for use, including near to the
allotments and at the rear of his house. Therefore, although more recently the use of
the Land has been constrained by the Objectors’ use, including tethering horses on the
Land and parking vehicles on it, they have not prevented its recreational use, One,
two or three horses have been on the Land approximately 30% to 40% of the time
over the relevant 20 year period. The greatest change in the use of the Land in terms
of its vehicular use has been since 2006 when the number of vehicles using the Land
increased and the nature of the vehicles changed to more commercial vehicles. They
affected the Land’s recreational use, but did not extinguish it. It affected, for example,

football games taking place on the Land.

4,12 He referred to various Google photographs he had acquired. The one {rom
1945 shows that The Fleece and The Nursery were then separated by a solid wall with
no linkage between them. The only access to The Fleece was via Front Street, The
2001 photograph shows the fencing erected by Mr Robinson around the area of land
that he adversely possessed. It also shows a beaten track of the route taken by
pedestrians walking diagonally through The Fleece. The 2006 Google photograph is
taken after Mr Robinson’s fencing was removed. The previously narrow pedestrian
access has been opened up and vehicles are using the through route. There are

vehicles shown on the Land, including caravans. On the 2009 photograph, the public

Page 95



house is seen as using the part of the Land to its rear, and in the May 2010

photograph, the fencing erected by Mr Robinson is shown.

4.13 Mrs Brenda Briggs' has lived at 21 Front Street since 1954. Prior to then,
she resided at 3 The Nursery from when she was born in 1938. She has two sons born
in 1969 and 197t who played on the Land daily until they were around 16 years of
age. They played football, cricket and rugby on the Land. They left home around
1993 and 2003, and one of them continues to live in West Auckland. She has
grandchildren aged 9 and 19 who come to visit. The youngest plays in her garden, but
has never played on The Fleece as she is frightened of horses. She walked her dog on
the Land up until around 6 years ago, and saw others walking their dogs on the Land
regularly as it is “a thoroughfure” for them. They continue to do so. The roule she
took with her dog was across The Fleece to its north western corner and along the
River. Since her dog walking ceased, she has only used The Fleece herself to walk
through. As to The Nursery, she sat out under the large tree during the 1990’s prior lo
the fencing being erected. Subsequently, she has only used The Nursery to walk
across as a means of access to her Sister’s. Family parties took place on The Fleece,
the last one being around 5 years ago. She pointed out that The Fleece can no longer
be used for such purposes as there is frequently traffic using it and horse dirt on it.
The regular traffic use has been from around 2006. The last bonfire party on the Land
she was aware of was before her sons left home and was during the last 20 years, The
bonfires were annual. There was a fairground on the Land on one occasion and prior
to the relevant 20 year period. There were no official organised sports on the Land.

People who use the Land have used it from a wide area as many walk across it to gain

" Her witness statement, evidence questionnaire and photographs are at AB section §8.

Page 96 13



access to the River. She fenced off the area of land to the rear of her house in the
1990’s when other fencing was erected in the area. Prior to then, it was open and
activities overflowed onto the Land from her garden. She never sought any
permission for her use of the Land, never used it secretly and never used any force.
She referred to her three photographs of the Land taken prior to the relevant 20 year
period. The main use of the Land over the relevant 20 year period has been walking
through it along a diagonal route, namely from Front Street to Station Road and vice

versa. Children no longer play on the Land as much since traffic started to use it.

4.14 Mr John Forbes'® has lived at 16 The Nursery since 2007. He expressed
particular concern over the speed of traffic using The Nursery and the consequent
safety implications. He referred to cars, vans, trailers, caravans, pickups, horseboxes
and other vehicles, including commercial ones, passing through The Nursery in order
to gain access to the rear of the properties on Front Street at dangerous speeds. He
would not aliow children to play out on The Nursery at the moment due to the traffic
which has become gradually worse since 2007. During that period, he has walked his
dog on the Land, crossing The Nursery and going to the River. He has seen many
people walking their dogs along the same route across the Land to get to the River. He
also walks across The Fleece himself to go to the shops and back. He has no personal

knowledge of the use of the Land prior to 2007.

Written Evidence in Support of the Application
4.15 In addition to the evidence of the witnesses who appeared at the Inquiry, 1

have also considered and had regard to all the written evidence submitted in support

Y His witness statement and letter are at AB section 20.

14

Page 97



of the Application in the form of additional witness statements, evidence

questionnaires and other documents which are contained in the Applicant’s Bundle.

4.16 However, whilst the Registration Authority must also take into account all
such written evidence, I and the Authority must bear in mind that it has not been
tested by cross examination. Hence, particularly where it is in conflict with oral
evidence given to the Inquiry, I have attributed such evidence less weight as it was not

subject to such cross examination.

CASE FOR THE OBJECTORS

Oral Evidence Objecting to the Application

4.17 Mr Abel Armstrong'® is one of the Objectors and he has lived at 27 Front
Street with his Wife since March 2009. Prior to that, in 1989, they purchased 24 Front
Street, living in a caravan in the rear garden whilst major renovation works were
undertaken to the property. At the time of purchase, they were informed by Mrs Jane
Laskey that they had a right of way across the Land.'” He acknowledged that there
were no deeds indicating where the access would lead to and from nor any document
stating that they had access over all the Land. He regarded the right of way as being
from the gate in his western wall across the Land in any direction, namely in and out
via The Nursery or via The Fleece onto Front Street. They had a means of vehicular
access across the Land which was otherwise unspecific. He accepted that he relied

solely upon the letter from Mrs Laskey as evidence of that right of way.'® In his view,

'® His witness statement is at OB page 5 onwards,

1A tetter from Mrs Laskey was produced to the Inquiry in which the right of way was referred to Imm
an access gate on the “eastern” wall of the property and for “wheelbarrows and livestock vehicles™. Mr
Armstrong identified that gate as a reference to the gate on the western wall which appears to be the
only logical interpretation and T regard the reference 1o the “eastern”™ wall as an error,

"® The letter is at OB page 15.

Page 98 15



the reference to “livestock vehicles™ in that letter was sufficient to give him a general
right of access to the gate in his property with vehicles across any part of the Land.
All they requested from Mrs Laskey was whether they had vehicular access to their

property across the Land and she indicated they had such a general right of access.

4.18 In 1989, they duly breached the western wall forming the boundary with The
Fleece in order to move their caravan in and replaced the single gate in the wall with a
double gate. They received a complaint from the brewery over breaching the wall in
relation to which they took legal advice. The caravan was brought onto the‘ir land via
The Nursery. Since then, there has been vehicular access to their property from Front
Street and from The Nursery via the double gates in their wall. The double gates are
shown in a 1989 photograph taken when they had brought turf onto their land to

renovate the garden."”

4.19  As to the use of the Land, since 1989 he has seen no use of the Land apart
from people walking across it, both with and without dogs, either going out onto Front
Street or onto Station Road. He acknowledged that he had seen people regularly
walking dogs on the Land, mainly in the early mornings and in the evenings. They
mainly took the route straight through the Land. People and children could no longer
access the River to fish when it had been fenced off by Mr Robinson in 1994, save a
small section of it that could be accessed by jumping over a wall. There have been no
organised sports on the Land to his knowledge, save that someone asked if they could
put a bouncy castle on it approximately 2 years ago. He has not seen any Kite flying,

football games, cricket or other recreational activities on the Land. He had never seen

% Photograph number 8 at OB page 13.

Page 99



the two young children who lived at 20 Front Street for over a year until 2011 playing
on The Fleece nor Mr Garfoot’s children nor Mr Roberts’ children nor any other
children playing on the Land, despite being at his property daily and driving over The
Fleece daily, sometimes once a day and sometimes 4 or 5 times a day. He never saw
children playing on the Land even prior to 2006, despite children living on Front
Street and at The Nursery. There has been one bonfire on the Land, around 2 years
ago, which he organised for his children. Although he did not own the Land, he did
not ask anyone’s permission to light the bonfire on the Land nor did he use force or

do it in secrel.

420 Since 1989, he and his family have cut the grass on the Land and grazed up to
5 horses at any one time on it. The horses were tethered all over the Land on both The
Fleece and The Nursery. Both The Fleece and The Nursery were open when they
came to live at Front Street. When Mr Robinson erected the fencing in 1994, the gap
between the two parcels was too small for larger vehicles such as horseboxes to pass
through. However, since that fencing came down around 2006, large vehicles were
again able to pass between the two areas, including horseboxes, trailers and caravans.
It is the heavier vehicles which made the defined tracks on the Land. Many were their

vehicles, but also other people’s.

421 Mrs Pauline Armstrong™ is also one of the Objectors and has lived at 27
Front Street with her Husband since 2009. Prior to that, in 1989, they purchased 24
Front Street, and she has always lived in West Auckland. In 1989, they erected double

gates in the boundary of their land with The Fleece in place of the previous single

* Her witness statement is at OB page 16,

Page 100 17



gate. The photograph of rolls of turf was taken in Spring 1990 when they had bought
turf to create their lawn and shows the double gates in sitn! They always brought
their vehicles onto their land via the double gates. They have always had a caravan
stored inside the gates, which was brought in from The Nursery and through their
double gates. From 1989, the defined tracks on the Land between The Nursery and
their gates were used by their family for vehicular access on a daily basis. That
resulted in complaints from the tenant of the Prince of Wales public house and
residents who contended that the Land, together with that since acquired by Mr
Robinson by adverse possession, was owned by the brewery. However, Mrs Jane
Laskey from whom they had purchased their land had informed them that they could
access their land via The Nursery and via Front Street as such access across the Land
to their property had been paid for by her late Father, Mr Albert Wilson. They
informed their Solicitors who wrote (o the complainants and nothing {urther ensued.
She acknowledged that there was nothing in the letter from Mrs Laskey™ to indicate

where the access was to or from.

4,22  Their youngest daughter was 12 years of age when they moved to 24 Front
Street in 1989. She played near to the waterfall with her friends, and she had also seen
other children playing there. That area is now enclosed within Mr Robinson’s land.
Part of The Fleece, namely the north western corner, abuts the River, but there is
currently a steep drop at that point and it is overgrown. She has not seen kite flying,
children’s parties or other recreational activities on the Land. Their children and
grandchildren have played on the Land with their friends. Their children played on a

trampoline on The Fleece which was on the Land for a few weeks over one summer

*! Photograph number 8 on page 13 of OB.
2 AL OB page 13.

18

Page 101



holidays around 3 or 4 years ago. She has seen other children playing on the Land, but
mainly on The Nursery rather than The Fleece. Children mainly cut across The Fleece
to go to play near to the River. The only bonfire on the Land she was aware of was
their own. People use the Land as a short cut between The Nursery and Front Street,
including dog walkers. Numerous people walk their dogs along the River and through
The Nursery. She had never seen anyone exercising their dog on the Land. She has
been retired since 2001. Prior to then, she worked full time, but she did shift work and

so was often at home during the afternoons.

4.23  Mrs Joanne Cliff> is also one of the Objectors and is the Daughter of Mr and
Mrs Armstrong. She moved to 24 Front Sireet with her parents in 1989 when she was
12 years of age (DOB: 06/02/77), and then to 27 Front Street when she was 17 years
old. She currently resides at 26A Front Street, the next door property to her Parents’.
As a 12 year old, and until she was around 14 years of age, she played at the River
with her friends where they fished and played at the waterfall, but she never played on
The Fleece or The Nursery. They merely walked over the Land in order to get to the
River. There were no other children living in the immediate area at that time. Since
1989, children have never played on the Land itself; they merely walked across it to
go to the River, There was nothing on the Land for children. It was merely a piece of
rough land. She did not recall anyone playing cricket, rounders or football or flying
kites on the Land, nor did she see any organised games on the Land. It was not a wel!
known piece of land save by dog walkers. People regularly walk their dogs on the
Land at all times of the day. There are numerous people from the area who walk their

dogs on the Land, but she has not seen people exercising their dogs on the Land.

3 Her witness statement is at OB page 17.

Page 102 19



People also walked across the Land as a short cut from The Nursery to Front Street
and vice versa. Only they had a bonfire on the Land. She recalled putting her
trampoline on The Fleece during one summer whilst her Parents’ yard was being
cleared out. The children who played on it were related to her and asked permission to
use it. She also recalled a bouncy castle being on The Nursery under the large tree on
one occasion when her Parents were asked by the parish council not to use their
vehicles on the Land for that day. It was a 50™ birthday party which she attended.
There was no request for permission to use the Land on that occasion nor was it then
used by force or in secrel. It never crossed her mind that people were not entitled to

use the Land.

424  Her parents, and subsequent herself and her Husband, always drove into the
rear of her Parents’ property through the double gates via either The Nursery or Froni
Street. They used both accesses dependent upon which direction they were going to or
coming from. Horseboxes, cars, pick-ups and wagons were brought through the Land
and caravans were towed over it. She and her Husband also stored their vehicles and
caravans on her Parents’ land. She and her Husband have also regularly kept horses
on both The Fleece and The Nursery. There are up to five horses on the Land at any
time. She has always had horses since the age of 14. In addition, the local police often
bring stray horses and tether them on the Land. The horses were not affected by dog

walkers using the Land.
Written Evidence Objecting to the Application
425 There was no additional written evidence submitted in objection to the

Application.

20

Page 103



THIRD PARTY EVIDENCE
4.26 During the Inquiry, Tinvited any other persons who wished to give evidence to
do sq. One individual did so, and her evidence was made available to be subject to

Cross examination.

427 Mrs Hazel Forbes™ is the Wife of Mr John Forbes who gave oral evidence in
support of the Application. She has also lived at 16 The Nursery since 2007. She
pointed out that people could not let their dogs off the lead on the Land due to the
large amount of traffic using it. Similarly, children do not play on the Land due to the
traffic. That was not the position when she came to the area in 2007, but it became the
circumstances from around 2008 onwards from the time when Mr Robinson made a

planning application for houses on his land.

5. THE LEGAL FRAMEWORK

5.1 [ shall set out below the relevant basic legal framework within which I have to
form my conclusions and the Registration Authority has to reach its decision. I shall
then proceed o apply the legal position to the facts I find based on the evidence that

has been adduced as set out above.

Commons Act 2000
52  The Application was made pursuant to the Commons Act 2006. That Act

requires each registration authority to maintain a register of town and village greens

* Her letter, writien jointly with her Husband and Son, is at AB seciion 20

Page 104 21



within its area. Section 15 provides for the registration of land as a town or village

green where the relevant statutory criteria are established in relation to such land.

5.3  The Application seeks the registration of the Land by virtue of the operation of

section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. Under that provision, land is to be registered as a town
or village green where:-

“(a) a significant number of the inhabitants of any locality, or of any

neighbourhood within a locality, have indulged as of right in lawful

sports and pastimes on the land for a period of at least 20 years;  and

(b) they continue to do so at the time of the application.”

54 Therefore, for the Application to succeed, it must be established that:-

(i) the Application Land comprises “land” within the meaning of the 2006
Act;

(i)  the Land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes;

(iii}  such use has been for a period of not less than 20 years;

(iv)  such use has been as of right;

{v}  such use has been by a significant number of the inhabitants of a
locality or of a neighbourhood within a locality;  and

(vi)  such use continued at the time of the Application.

Burden and Standard of Proof
5.5  The burden of proving that the Land has become a village green rests with the
Applicant for registration. The standard of proof is the balance of probabilities. That

is the approach 1 have used.

22 Page 105



5.8 Any land that is registered as a village green must be clearly defined so that it
is clear what area of land is subject to the rights that flow from village green

registration.

5.9  However, it was stated by way of obiter dictum by the majority of the House
of Lords in Oxfordshire County Council v. Oxford City CouncilF’® that there is no
requirement that a piece of land must have any particular characteristics consistent

with the concept of a village green in order Lo be registered.

{.awful Sports and Pastimes

5.10 It was made clear in R. v. Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell
Parish Council’” that “lawful sports and pastimes” is a composite expression and so
it is sufficient for a use to be either a lawful sport or a lawful pastime. Moreover, it
includes present day sports and pastimes and the activities can be informal in nature.

Hence, it includes recreational walking, with or without dogs, and children’s play.

5.11 However, that element does not include walking of such a character as would
give rise to a presumption of dedication as a public right of way. In R. (Laing Homes
Limited) v. Buckinghamshire County Council®®, Sullivan J. (as he then was) noted at
paragraph 102 that:-
“it is important to distinguish between use which would suggest to a
reasonable landowner that the users believed they were exercising a public
right of way — to walk, with or without dogs, around the perimeter of his fields

— and use which would suggest to such a landowner that the users believed

% 2006] 2 AC 674 per Lord Hoffmann at paragraphs 37 to 39.
27 (2000] | AC 335 a1 356F to 357E.
8 (2003] EWHC 1578 (Admin).

Page 106 24



5.6  Further, when considering whether or not the Applicant has discharged the
evidential burden of proving that the Land has become a town or village green, it is
important to have regard to the guidance given by Lord Bingham in R. v Sunderland
City Council ex parte Beresford® where, at paragraph 2, he noted as follows:-
“As Pill LJ. rightly pointed out in R v Suffolk County Council ex parte Steed
(1996) 75 P&CR 102, 111 “it is no trivial matter for a landowner to have
land, whether in public or private ownership, registered as a town green ...".
It is accordingly necessary that all ingredients of this definition should be met
before lund is registered, and decision makers must consider carefully
whether the land in question has been used by inhabitants of a locality for
indilgence in what are properly to be regarded as lawful sports and pastimes
and whether the temporal limit of 20 years’ indulgence or more is met.”
Hence, all the elements required to establish that land has become a town or village
green must be properly and strictly proved by an applicant on a balance of

probabilities.

Statutory Criteria

5.7  Caselaw has provided helpful rulings and guidance on the various elements of
the statutory criteria required to be established for land to be registered as a town or

village green which 1 shall refer to below.

Land

12004] | AC 88Y.

b2
Lad

Page 107



that they were exercising a right to indulge in lawful sports and pastimes
across the whole of his fields.”
A similar point was emphasised at paragraph 108 in relation to fc;olpath rights and
recreational rights, namely:-
“from the landowner's point of view it may be very important to distinguish
between the nwo rights. He may be content that local inhabitants should cross
his land along a defined route, around the edge of his fields, but would
vigorously resist if it appeared to him that a right to roam across the whole of

his fields was being asserted.”

5.12  More recently, Lightman J. stated at first instance in Oxfordshire County

Council v. Oxford City Council® al paragraph 102:-
“Recreational walking upon a defined track may or may not appear to the
ovener as referable to the exercise of a public right of way or a right 10 enjoy a
lawful sport or pastime depending upon the context in which the exercise takes
place, which includes the character of the land and the season of the year. Use
of a track merely as an access to a potential green will ordinarily be referable
only to exercise of a public right of way to the green. But walking a dog,
Jogging or pushing a pram on a defined track which is situated on or traverses
the potential green may be recreational use of land as a green and part of the
total such recreational use, if the use in all the circumstances is such as 1o
suggest to a reasonable landowner the exercise of a right to indulge in lawful
sports and pastimes across the whole of his land. If the position is ambiguous,

the inference should generally be drawn of exercise of the less onerous right

9 12004] Ch. 253.

Page 108 25



(the public right of way) rather than the more onerous (the right to use as a
green).”
He went on area paragraph 103 to state:-
“The critical question must be how the matter would have appeared to a
reasonable landowner observing the user made of his land, and in particular
whether the user of tracks would have appeared to be referable to use as a
public footpath, user for recreational activities or both, Where the track has
mwo distinct access points and the track leads from one to the other and the
users merely use the track to get from one of the points to the other or where
there is a track to a cul-de-sac leading 1o, e g, an attractive view point, user
confined to the track may readily be regarded as referable to user as a public
highway alone. The situation is different if the users of the track, e g, fly kites
or veer off the track and play, or meander leisurely over and enjoy the land on
either side. Such user is more particularly referable to use as a green. In
summary it is necessary to look at the user as a whole and decide adopting
common-sense approach to what (if any claim) it is referable and whether it is
sufficiently substantial and long standing to give rise to such right or rights.”
The Court of Appeal and the House of Lords declined to rule on the issue since it was
so much a matter of fact in applying the statutory test. However, neither the Court of
Appeal nor the House of Lords expressed any disagreement with the above views

advanced by Lightman J.

Continuity and Sufficiency of Use over 20 Year Period

Page 109



5.13 The qualifying use for lawful sports and pastimes must be continuous

throughout the relevant 20 year period: Hollins v. Verney.

5.14  Further, the use has to be of such a nature and frequency as to show the
landowner that a right is being asserted and it must be more than sporadic intrusion
onto the land. It must give the landowner the appearance that rights of a continuous
nature are being asserted. The fundamental issue is to assess how the matters would
have appeared to the landowner: R. (on the application of Lewis) v. Redcar and

Cleveland Borough Council .

Locality or Neighbourhood within a Locality

5.15 A “locality” must be a division of the County known to the law, such as a
borough, parish or manor: MeD v Wiltshire CC;* R. (on the application of
Cheltenham Builders Limited) v. South Gloucestershire DC;’* and R. (Laing Homes
Limited) v. Buckinghamshire CC.>* A locality cannot be created simply by drawing a

line on a plan: Cheltenham Builders case.”’

5.16 In contrast, a “neighbourhood” need not be a recognised administrative unit.
Lord Hoffmann pointed out in Oxfordshire County Council v. Oxford City Councit’®
that the statutory criteria of “any neighbourhood within a locality” is “obviously
drafted with a deliberate imprecision which contrasts with the insistence of the old

law upon a locality defined by legally significant boundaries”. Hence, a housing

M (1884) 13 QBD 304,

120101 UKSC 11 at paragraph 36.

2 11995] 4 Al ER 931 at page 937b-¢.

¥ [2003] EWHC 2803 (Admin) it paragraphs 72 1o 84.
20031 EWHC 1578 (Admin) at paragraph 133.

3 At paragraphs 41 1o 48.

% 12006] 2 AC 674 at paragraph 27.

Page 110 27



estate can be a neighbourhood: R. (McAlpine) v. Staffordshire County Council."

Nonetheless, a neighbourhood cannot be any area drawn on a map. Instead, it must be

dan daréa

5.17

. . . . 3
which has a sufficient degree of cohesiveness: Cheltenham Builders case. 4

Further clarity was provided on that element recently by HHJ Waksman QC in

R. (Oxfordshire and Buckinghamshire Mental Health NHS Foundation Trust and

Oxford Radcliffe Hospitals NHS Trust) v. Oxfordshire County Council® who

stated:-

“While Lord Hoffmann said thar the expression was drafted with “deliberate
imprecision”, that was to be contrasted with the locality whose boundaries
had to be “legally significant”. See paragraph 27 of his judgment in
Oxfordshire (supra). He was not there saying that a neighbourhood need have
no boundaries at all. The factors to be considered when determining whether
a purported neighbourhood qualifies are undoubtedly looser and more varied
than those relating to locality... but, as Sullivan J stated in R (Cheltenham
Butilders) Ltd v South  Gloucestershire Council [2004] JPL 975 at paragraph
85, «a neighbourhood must have «a sufficient degree of (pre-existing)
cohesiveness. To qualify therefore, it must be capable of meaningful
description in some way. This is now emphasised by the fuct that under the
Commons Registration (England) Regulations 2008 the entry on the register
of a new TVG will specify the locality or neighbourhiood referred 1o in the

application.”

Significant Number

3712002] EWHC 76 (Admin).
3 At paragraph 85.
¥ (2010] EWHC 530 (Admin) at paragraph 79.

28

Page 111



5.18  “Significant” does not mean considerable or substantial. What matters is that
the number of people using the fand in question has to be sufficient to indicate that
their use of the land signifies that it is in general use by the local community for
informal recreation, rather than occasional use by individuals as trespassers: R.

(McAlpine) v. Staffordshire County Council **

As of Right

5.19 Use of land “as of right” is a use without force, without secrecy and without
permission, namely nec w nec clam nec precario. It was made clear in R. v.
Oxfordshire County Council ex parte Sunningwell Parish Council'’ that the issue

does not turn on the subjective intention, knowledge or beliefl of users of the land.

520 “Force” does not merely refer to physical force. User is vi and so not “as of
righr” if it involves climbing or breaking down fences or gates or if it is under protest
from the landowner: Newnham v. Willison.*” Further, Lord Rodger in Lewis- v.
Redcar stated that “If the use continues despite the neighbour’s protests and attempts
to interrupt it, it is treated as being vi...user is only peaceable (nec vi) if it is neither

A 3 FE
violent nor contentions™.

521 “Permission” can be expressly given or be implied from the landowner’s
conduct, but it cannot be implied from the mere inaction or ucts of encouragement of

the landowner: R. v. Sunderland City Council ex parte Beresford.*

*12002) EWHC 76 (Admin) at paragraph 71.
*1[2000] 1 AC 335.

2 (1988) 56 P. & C.R. 8.

AL paragraphs 88-90.

H2004] 1 AC 88Y.

Page 112 70



6. APPLICATION OF THE LAW TO THE FACTS

Approach to the Evidence

6.1 The impression which I obtained of all the witnesses called at the Inquiry is
that they were entirely honest and transparent witnesses, and I therefore accept for the

most part the evidence of all the witnesses called for each of the Parties.

6.2 I have considered all the evidence put before the Inquiry, both orally and in
writing. However, | emphasise that my findings and recommendations are based upon
whether the Land should be registered as a town or village green by virtue of the
relevant statuiory criteria being satisfied. In determining that issue, it is inappropriate
for me or the Registration Authority to take into account the merits of the Land being

registered as a town or village green or of it not being so registered.

6.3 I shall now consider each of the elements of the relevant statutory criteria in
turn as set out in paragraph 5.4 above, and determine whether they have been
established on the basis of all the evidence, applying the facis to the legal framework
set out above. The facts | refer to below are all based upon the evidence set out in
detail above. In order for the Land to be registered as a town or village green, each of
the relevant statutory criteria must be established by the Applicant on the evidence

adduced on the balance of probabilities.

The Land
6.4  There is no difficulty in identifying the relevant land sought to be registered. A

map was submitted with the Application attached to the Statutory Declaration which

30

Page 113



shows the Land subject to the Application outlined and hatched in bold,*’ and that is
the definitive document on which the Land that is the subject of the Application is
marked. The Land has clearly defined and fixed boundaries, and there was no dispute
at the Inquiry nor in any of the evidence adduced that that area of land comprises
“land” within the meaning of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act and is éupab[e of

registration as a town or village green in principle and I so find.

Relevant 20 Year Period

6.5  Turning next to the identification of the relevant 20 year period for the
purposes ol section 15(2) of the 2006 Act, the qualifying use must continue up until
the date of the Application. Hence, the relevant 20 year period is generally the period
of 20 years which ends at the date of the Application. The Application Form and the
accompanying statutory declaration are dated 08 August 2011, and the Application
was received by the Registration Authority on 11 August 2011. In my view, the
relevant date of the Application is the date when the Application is received by the
Registration Authority. It follows that the relevant 20 year period for the purposes of

section 15(2) is August 1991 until August 2011.

Use of Land for Lawful Sports and Pastimes

6.6  Turning next to whether the Land has been used for lawful sports and pastimes
in principle during the relevant 20 year period, it is contended by the Applicant that
the Land has been used for various recreational activities during that period.
References were made in both the oral and the written evidence in support of the

Application to recreational activities such as dog walking, general walking, children’s

** AUAB scction 4.

Page 114 3



play, football, cricket, fishing, cycling, kite flying, picnicking, berry picking, bonfires
and- children’s parties having been carried out on the Land. Each of the witnesses who
gave oral evidence in support of the Application referred to their own and/or their
family’s and/or other people’s varying recreational uses of the Land over different
periods of time. Such evidence is supported by a material amount of written evidence.
Although people’s recollections may fade over time, particularly in relation to details,
1 accept the evidence of each of those witnesses that they did in fact use the Land for

the stated purposes.

6.7  Inso finding, I also take into account the following. The Land is located close
to a number of residential properties with buill up areas Lo the east, south and west.
There is easy and unrestricted pedestrian access to il from Station Road to the east and
from Front Street to the south. It can also be accessed from the area of the River. The
Land is flat and comprises open grassland. It was regularly maintained by the District
Council until 1994, and local residents have continued to maintain those parts near to
their homes. 1 saw from my site visit that it remains a pleasant area of open space. In
such circumstances, 1 would expect the Land 1o be used by local residents for

recreational purposes to a degree.

6.8  Further, I note that it is no part of the Objectors’ case to contend that no
recreational activities whatsoever have taken place on the Land. Instead, the main
matier in dispute between the Parties relates to the extenr of any qualifying
recreational use on the Land which I address below. Each of the three Objectors
acknowledged that people regularly walked on the Land, both wilh and without dogs,

and Mr Armstrong himself had organised a bonfire on the Land. Mrs Armsirong,

L
g ]

Page 115



whom 1 regarded as a particularly fair and honest witness, also pointed out that their
Children and Grandchildren had played on the Land with their friends, and that she

had seen other children playing on the Land.

6.9  Moreover, all such activities referred to in paragraph 6.6 above are lawf{ul, and
they are all capable of being recreational pursuits in principle. Although there was no
evidence of any organised sports or other recreational activities having taken place on
the Land other than bonfires and children’s parties, as noted in paragraph 5.10 above,
informal activities such as walking with and without dogs and children’s play amount
to lawful sports and pastimes within the meaning of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.
Therefore, 1 find that some lawful sports and pastimes have been carried out on the
Land during the relevant 20 year period. 1 shall address below the extent and degree to
which they have been carried out as of right throughout the entirety of the relevant

period by the inhabitants of the claimed locality.

Locality or Neighbourhood within a Locality

6.10 I turn next to the identity of the relevant locality or neighbourhood within a
locality for the purposes of section 15(2). The Applicant confirmed at the outset of the
Inquiry that the area relied upon for the purposes of the Application was as stated in
section 6 of the Application Form, namely the locality of West Auckland Village
which is within the West Auckland Parish Council administrative area. It was further
confirmed by the Applicant that the boundaries of the Village and of the Parish

Council area are the same and are as identified on the Map of the locality submitted

Page 116 33



with the Application.‘“’ The Objectors did not dispute that the identified locality was a

qualifying locality.

6.11 In my view, the Parish Council area of West Auckland is capable of being a
locality within the meaning of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act. It is a recognised and
established administrative area, namely the administrative area of the Parish Council,
with fixed and identifiable boundaries and is an area known to the law. I therefore

find that it amounts to a locality within the meaning of the statutory criteria.

Use as of Right

6.12  Before turning to the extent of the qualifying user by the inhabitants of the
locality throughout the relevant 20 year period, 1 shall consider next whether the use
of the Land has been “as of right” during that period. There was no suggestion in any
of the evidence that any of the use was by stealth. On the contrary, it was carried out
openly during daylight hours and without any element of secrecy. The use of the Land
has thus been nec clam. Similarly, none of the use was carried out with force.
Although use need not involve physical force 1o be vi, such as accessing land by
breaking down fences, there was no evidence of anyone having been chailenged by
the Landowners or having been requested to leave the Land or using the Land
contrary to any signs. Instead, the consistent and unchallenged evidence of each of the
witnesses in support of the Application was that they had never been prevented from
using the Land nor been requested to leave the Land nor been informed that they

should not be on the Land. Therefore, 1 find that the use of the Land was nec vi.

% At AB section 5.

34

Page 117



6.13  Asto whether the Land has been used nec precario during the relevant 20 year
period, the only evidence of any express permission having been given was for a
bouncy castle to be placed on the Land for a party around 2011 for which Mr
Armstrong’s permission was sought and duly granted. Such permission related to a
specific and single event on the Land and I find that it applied solely to that event and
was not a general permission being granted. There was no evidence of any other
express permission having been given more generally or at all. Further, there was no
evidence adduced to suggest that the use was carried out pursuant lo an implied
permission, which could arise from overt conduct on the part of the Landowner
making it clear to local inhabitants that their use was pursuant to his permission as
stated in Beresford. Indeed, the Objectors did not dispute that the recreational use of
the Land which had taken place was “as of right”, as was confirmed in the Closing

Submissions made on their behall,

6.14  Consequently, with the exception of the bouncy castle event, I find that the
recreational use of the Land which took place during the relevant 20 year period did

50 “as of right” within the meaning of section 15(2) of the 2006 Act.

Use by a Significant Number of the Inhabitants of the Locality

6.15 Turning next to the fundamental issue of whether there has been a sufficiency
of use of the Land for lawful sports and pastimes throughout the relevant 20 year
period by a significant number of the inhabitants of the locality to establish village
green rights over the Land, it is necessary to identify the relevant qualifying use and,
in doing so, to identify the elements of the use of the Land which must be discounted.

As indicated above, the question for determination is whether the qualifying use of the

Page 118 35



Land for lawful sports and pastimes has been of such a nature and frequency
throughout the relevant 20 year period to demonstrate to the Landowner that

recreational rights were being asserted over the Land by the local community.

6.16 In terms of the elements of the recreational use which must be discounted
from the qualifying use, 1 firstly exclude any use of the Land carried out outside the
relevant 20 year period. Although such use may be relevant as an indicator as to the
extent of the use within that period, and 1 have taken that factor into account, I am
unable to regard such use as part of the qualifying use itself. Thus, I have excluded the
recreational uses of the Land referred to in the evidence above that was undertaken
prior to August 1991 and post August 2011. I have also taken the same approach with

the written evidence.

6.17  Secondly, I have excluded such use by persons who were not inhabitants of
the locality of West Auckland, such as the use by visiting family and children who
themselves lived outside that area and the use of those seen on the Land whose

residency was unknown,

6.18 Thirdly, and of particular significance, it is necessary to discount the use of the
Land that was more akin to the exercise of a public right of way than to the exercise
of recreational rights over a village green for the detailed reasons set out in paragraphs
5.11 and 5.12 above. That includes walking, both with and without dogs, where the
walk was of such a nature that it would suggest that the user was exercising a right of
way over specific routes rather than exercising a recreational right over the land

generally.

36

Page 119



6.19 From the evidence, it is my impression that a significant amount of walking
and dog walking on the Land took place along a specific linear route and as a means
of access from one point to another, often using the Land as part of a short cut, rather
than recreating over the Land generally. Hence, in terms of each of the witnesses who
gave oral evidence in support of the Application, Mr Garfoot referred to people
walking along the River and then crossing the Land as a short cut onto Front Street.
Indeed, although he has not lived in the area for the vast majority of the relevant 20
year period, he had only seen the Land, namely both The Fleece and The Nursery,
being used as rights of way during the relevant 20 year period and not for any other
recreational purposes. Mr Roberts stated that his main use of the Land was as a short
cut from his house to various local facilities along the diagonal route through the
Land, which was a frequently used route by others. Indeed, he noted that since the
fencing was erected in 1994, dog walkers and general walkers have “invariably cut
through along a diagonal route”. Similarly, Mrs Briggs’ personal use of the Land was
primarily to walk her dog across The Fleece to access the area of the River and then
subsequently to walk through it herself. She has also walked across The Nursery as a
means of access to her Sister’s. She confirmed that the main use of the Land during
the relevant period was by people walking through it along a diagonal route between
Front Street and Station Road and vice versa. Mr Forbes’ use of the Land primarily
involved walking across The Nursery to gain access to the River and walking across
The Fleece to go to the shops and back. He had seen many dog walkers walking along

the same route to access the River.

Page 120 37



6.20 1 accept such evidence. Indeed, it is apparent from the photographic evidence
produced that a beaten track was formed along that diagonal route which pedestrians
used. 1 also note the consistent evidence of each of the Objectors that they had seen
walkers, both with and without dogs, walking across the Land and using it as a short
cut. Significantly, no evidence was given by any of the witnesses who gave oral
evidence of people exercising their dogs on the Land generally or walking over the
Land generally rather than along the specific diagonal route as a short cut or as a

means of access.

6.21 I find that such use of the Land was more akin to the exercise of a right of way
rather than of recreational rights over the Land generally. Accordingly, such use must

also be discounted from the qualifying use.

6.22 Having discounted such elements of use from the qualifying use, it is next
necessary o assess whether the evidence has demonstrated that that qualifying use
was carried out to a sufficient extent and frequency throughout the relevant 20 year
period o establish town or village green rights over the Land. In doing so, the
impression 1 gained from the evidence wa's that the primary recreational uses of the
Land were for dog walking and general walking together with an element of
children’s play. There was no specific evidence of any community events or formal
events or sports having been regularly organised on the Land during the relevant 20

year period save for a few bonfire and other parties.

6.23 In terms of walking and dog walking, it is necessary to discount that which

was more akin to the exercise of a public right of way. For the reasons given above, |

38

Page 121



find from the oral evidence that the vast majorily of such uses over the relevant period
were of such a nature, and there was no oral evidence of any regular dog walking and
general walking use of the Land which was not of such a nature. Further, insofar as it
is sufficiently detailed to enable a view to be reached on that issue, the written
evidence tends to support that {inding. There are various references to people using
the Land as a short cut, as a thoroughfare, and as a means of gaining access to the
River. In contrast, it is not possible to ascertain from the less detailed written evidence
which particular routes were used by walkers and how they used the Land. Given that
the burden of proof lies upon the Applicant, 1 am unable to assume that the Land was
used by such walkers and dog walkers more generally. Indeed, that would be

inconsistent with the oral evidence to which I give more weight in any event.

6.24  As to children’s play, there is a limited amount of evidence of such use taking
place on the Land during the relevant period by the inhabitants of West Auckland. Mr
Garfoot’s daughter’s use and his cousin’s children’s use took place on The Nursery,
but he pointed out that there were no longer many children living at The Nursery and
that he had not seen children playing on The Fleece during the relevant 20 year period
at all. Mr Roberts stated that The Nursery was “very much the domain” of residents of
The Nursery, and it was when children lived in those particular houses that they
played on the Land. As to The Fleece, that had been regularly used for children’s play
until around 1994 when the District Council regularly maintained it. Mrs Briggs noted
that children no longer play on the Land since traffic started to use it, which view was
confirmed by both Mr and Mrs Forbes. Indeed, since 2006 when heavier traffic has
been using the Land, it does not seem to me that the Land would be a particularly safe

or attractive area for children’s play. The written evidence is insufficiently detailed to

Page 122 39



assist as to whether the children’s play referred to took place throughout the entirety

of the 20 year period.

6.25 [ also take into account the Objectors’ evidence in relation to this issue. Mrs
Armstrong fairly acknowledged that she had seen children playing on the Land,
including her own children, grandchildren and their friends. However, she pointed out
that most children merely cut across the Land to gain access to the River which was

where they preferred to play.

6.26 Having considered all the evidence, 1t seems to me that the use of the Land for
children’s play has been relatively limited during the relevant 20 year period.
Moreover, since 2006 when the Land has been used regularly by traffic, namely for
the final 5 years of the relevant 20 year period, I find that such use has been extremely
limited. I note in that regard that Mr Roberts fairly and, in my view, justifiably, stated
that the creation of a vehicular track was “a huge disincentive” to the Land’s

recreational use, albeit he emphasised that such use had not “entirely” ceased.

6.27  As to other recreational uses of the Land, the evidence indicated that they were
relatively limited in nature. Moreover, again since 2006, such uses have inevitably
decreased due 1o the regular use of the Land for traffic, as confirmed by the oral
evidence. Further, Mr Garfoot, Mr Roberts and Mrs Briggs each pointed to the use of
the Land for tethering horses and the resulting horse droppings which have made the

Land generally less attractive to recreational uses.

40

Page 123



6.28 Taking all the evidence into account, I find that the qualifying use of the Land
during the relevant 20 year period has been sporadic and insufficient to demonstrate
the assertion of recreational rights over the Land. Consequently, 1 find that it has not
been established on the balance of probabilities that the qualifying use of the Land has
taken place to such an extent and with such a degree of frequency throughout the
entire relevant 20 year period to demonstrate to a reasonable landowner that
recreational rights were being asserted over the Land. I accordingly {ind that the Land
has not been used by a significant number of the inhabitants of West Auckland for

lawful! sports and pastimes throughout the relevant 20 year period.

Continuation of Use

6.29 The final issue in terms of the statutory criteria is whether the qualifying use
continued up until the date of the Application, namely 11 August 2011. The Land
remains unfenced and open and no signs have been erected restricting its use to date.
Witnesses gave evidence that they continue to use the Land. Therefore, subject to the
other elements of the statutory criteria, 1 find that the qualifying use was continuing as
at the date of the Application and that that particular element of the statutory criteria

has accordingly been satisfied.

Private Rights of Access and to Graze

6.30 The Objectors also raised issues over their alleged private rights of access and
private rights to graze horses on the Land. I agree with the submissions made on the
Applicant’s behalf that neither 1 nor, more significantly, the Registration Authority,
have any jurisdiction to determine whether or not such rights over the Land exist. In

any event, it does not seem to me to be necessary for such issues to be resolved in

Page 124 4]



order for myself 1o recommend, and for the Registration Authority to determine,

whether the statutory criteria contained in section 15(2) of the 2006 Act have been

established. For both those reasons, I do not address those issues further and 1

recommend the Registration Authority to adopt the same approach.

7.1

7.2

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATION

My overall conclusions are therefore as follows:-

7.1.1

p/s[E2

713

That the Application Land comprises land that is capable of
registration as a town or village green in principle;

That the relevant 20 year period is August 1991 until August 201 1;
That the Parish of West Auckland is a qualifying locality;

That the use of the Application Land for lawful sports and pastimes has
been as of right throughout the relevant 20 year period;

That the Application Land has not been used for lawful sports and
pastimes throughout the relevant 20 year period to a sufficient extent
and continuity to have created a town or village green;

That the use of the Application Land for lawful sports and pastimes has
accordingly not been carried out by a significant number of the
inhabitants of any qualifying locality or neighbourhood within a
locality throughout the relevant 20 year period; and

That the use of the Application Land for lawful sports and pastimes

continued up until the date of the Application.

In view of those conclusions, it is my recommendation that the Registration

Authority should reject the Application and should not add the Application Land to its

Page 125



register of town and village greens for the reasons contained in this Report and on the
specific grounds that:-
7.2.1 The Applicant has failed to establish that the Application Land has
been used for lawful sports and pastimes to a sufficient extent and
continuity throughout the relevant 20 year period to have created a
town or village green ; and
7.2.2 The Applicant has accordingly failed to establish that the use of the
Application Land has been by a significant number of the inhabitants
of any qualifying locality or neighbourhood within a locality

throughout the relevant 20 year period.

8. ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

8.1 Finally, I would like to thank the Applicant and the Objectors for providing all
the documentation to me in advance of the Inquiry and for the very helpful manner in
which the respective cases were presented to the Inquiry. I would also like to thank all
the witnesses who attended the Inquiry as they each gave their evidence in a clear,
succinct and frank manner. I would further like to express my gratitude to the
representatives from the Registration Authority for their significant administrative

assistance prior to and during the Inquiry.

8.2 I am sure that the Registration Authority will ensure that both Parties are
provided with a copy of this Report, and that it will then take time to consider all the
contents of this Report prior to proceeding to reach its decision.

RUTH A. STOCKLEY

Page 126 43



13 October 2013

Kings Chambers
36 Young Street Manchester M3 3FT

5 Park Square East Leeds LS| 2NE
and
Embassy House, 60 Church Street, Birmingham B3 2DJ

44 Page 127



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 128



WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 6

Post-Inquiry correspondence from the Applicant

Page 129



W@SﬁA@@kﬂ@ﬂdPaﬂ‘uShQ@un@ﬂ

Sharon Wootton, Clerk to the Council
20 Loweswater Grove, West Auckland
BISHOP AUCKLAND q‘gﬁg‘v

County Durham DL14 9NA counciL
801388 834360 = sharon.home@btopenworld.com

17" November 2013

Dear Ms Holding

RE: Response to the Public Inquiry Inspector’s report -Fleece and Nursery Land,
West Auckdand, Application to register land as Village Green

We embarked on this application about six years ago, on the specific recommendation of
Durham County Council’s legal department (Richard Langdon), following a meeting to
discuss access and misuse issues on the land. Thank you now for the opportunity to
comment on the Inspector's report and specifically, her conclusion, that the land not be
registered. Ve would offer the following comments:

Extent and continuity of use

The inspector places great stress on the fact that there was not, in her view, ‘a sufficient
extent and continuity' of community use of the land. She acknowledges that the PC had
demonstrated that the land was well used for decades from the 1970s, when it was
maintained by the local authority, up to 1994, that is for the first three years of the relevant
period (1991-2011).

Afcer 994 maintenance stopped and the communal use inevitably declined slightly. Matters
got far worse in 2006, when the objectors began to take unauthorised access through The
Nursery (later fenced off) and Fleece land, and also using the land as if they owned it for the
transfer of scrap from lorry to lorry, etc, and general car parking. This activity
understandably hugely reduced the community use in the Nursery and also severely
restricting it on the Fleece land — but just for the last five years of the relevant period.

The leve! of use of the Fleece during that period still included occasional communal bonfires,
children playing football, trampolining and children's parties, besides those that walk across
and dog-walk the area. Whilst not intensively used, because of the objectors’ activities, it is
a level of activity not dissimilar from that to be found today on many registered village
greens in County Durham villages. Indeed West Auckland’s official village green never hosts
a bonfire and only the occasional game of football.

The community use in The Nursery was once very real and delightful to see, elderly
neighbours sitting out in deckchairs under its central tree to enjoy summer afternoons.
Now it has been destroyed by the unauthorised access and fencing. Life for residents there
is becoming unbearable and a number of owners already have plans to sell up If registration,
or some similar form of preventative action to stop the access is not forthcoming very
quickly, the area will be blighted and fall into vacancy, abandonment and vandafism.

Page 130



In an earlier effort to reach an accord with the objectors, the Parish Council drew up a draft
agreement whereby their Fleece access would be acknowledged for domestic use only,
while their Nursery access would be closed. This agreement was accepted in principle by
the objectors, but never signed.

if the commi ndorse th o i will wardi objectors for
eve of thari vehicular ac a ri nci f publi n spac
an rall cial attitude toward | residen the wider vi c ni

The need for this land to be taken into some degree of community ‘ownership’ or contral,
has never been greater than now. The following agencies have had a close involvement with
the area and would endorse our view.

Police

The police have had a long involvement with incidents on this land, most stemming from the
new vehicular access created through The Nursery. This includes the unauthorised parking
of caravans on the land, joy-riding cars racing through The Nursery and churning up the
Fleece land, and in one recent incident (prompted by the objectors), a full police
armed-response unit arriving on the Fleece land. The police would welcome closure of
unauthorised accesses and a responsible body to whom they could talk and act, when this
land is being misused.

Highways

The DCC Highways engineers about five years ago sought to refuse 2 planning application
for two extra houses in The Nursery on the grounds that the vehicular movements would
be excessive for this small cul-de-sac of houses. In the event members approved the
scheme, yet DCC now seems powerless to prevent far greater unauthorised vehicular
access taking place through exactly the same area (about [5-20 car/lorry movement per
day). DCC engineers would surely welcome the cessation of this access.

Enforcement

Former Wear Valley District Council and Durham County Council enforcement officers
know this area of land well. They have frequently had recourse to follow up reports of scrap
metal dealing and the creation of bonfires of industrial waste (including old fridges) taking
place on the Fleece land. An ‘owner’ of the land wha could act against such antisocial uses,
in conjunction with enforcement officers would be weicomed.

Conservation

The Fleece and Nursery Land lies within West Auckland Conservation Area, a village which
has benefitted hugely recently from DCC investment — the bypass, two major floorscaping
schemes, property restoration grants (in conjunction with English Heritage) and the planned
surfacing of the unmade access road on the north side of the green. The parish council has
supported some of these schemes financially and also planted semi-mature trees on the
green. Add to the recent parish council-led War Memorial scheme at the Pant and the new
World Cup sculpture and many people say the centre of the village has never looked so
good. But..the Fleece and Nursery land, behind the village’s facade, tells a very different
stary of neglect and misuse. If vehicular access was stopped through the Nursery, if the
land was maintained {as the Parish Council have agreed to do with a proposed landscaping
scheme), if antisocial behaviour was stopped, it would lead to an improvement in the
appearance of the area, an increased investment by owners in their houses, as well as the

Page 131



completion of the Nursery cul-de-sac with the construction of the two new approved stone
dwellings. All this would enhance the conservation area and restore the reasonable
amenities that Jocal residents have a right to enjoy.

Conclusion

| The parish councit considers that the level of community use of the land for much of
the relevant period was significant, and commensurate with that taking place on many
existing traditional village greens in the county. Therefore registration should foltow.

2 We would ask the committee, or a relevant number of its members, to make a site
visit before the committee meeting, so they can meet.will all parties, including local
residents.

3 We would urge Durham County Council not to reward the antisocial behaviour that
has taken place here, which has prevented full enjoyment of the open space, by failing to
register this land as village green. Please give back this land to the community that wishes to
care for it and once again actively use it.

4 Ensure this land is in the responsibie hands of a body that will improve and maintain
it, and be able to act to prevent unauthorised uses and accesses.

5 By so doing the work of the police, and your own County Council highways,
enforcement and conservation officers would benefit, in making this village a better place for
its restdents.

6 Should, despite this letter, Members wish to endorse the Inspector’s
recommendation not to register, we would urge that DCC legal and highways officers be
instructed to work, as a matter of urgency, with the Parish Council to implement alternative
legal means whereby The Nursery access can be closed and the Fleece and Nursery land
restored, through some form of community ownership, to full community use again.

7 We would hope that the Parish Council will be given time at the committee meeting
to summarise this letter in a short read statement.

Many thanks for your assistance with this.

Yours sincerely

o

Sharon Wootton
Clerk to the Council

Page 132



Dear Committee Member

PROPOSED REGISTRATION OF THE FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND, WEST AUCKLAND
AS A REGISTERED VILLAGE GREEN

A CONCLUDING STATEMENT BY WEST AUCKLAND PARISH COUNCIL

The Parish Council welcomes the opportunity to offer a concluding statement to Members ahead of your site visit and subsequent meeting
on March |2, We would hope to make a short statement at the meeting too.

West Auckland Parish Council feels very strongly thot this is simply a matter of right oand wrong. For almost eight years
we have been fighting to defend the rights of local homeowners to enjoy the basic residential amenities they once had
- peace, quiet and an attractive green environment. Due to the selfish and antisocial behaviour of one family, those
amenities have been destroyed, lives have been damaged and a once attractive part of our village conservation area
has been badly blighted. Failing to register this land as villuge green would, quite simply, be to reward the objectors for
their antisocial behaviour. We are proud of our village and work hard to improve it. We are hugely grateful for the
highway and environmental improvements Durham County Council has invested here in recent years. We ask
Members for one more act of support for West Auckland - register the Fleece and Nursery land as village green,

The Fleece and Nursery land lies just to the north of the main village green, historically the two areas were quite separate and
accessed independently, divided by a high wall and the mill race. The Fleece land was historically owned by West Auckland
Brewery, The Nursery land was once owned by the colliery owners and, for the greater part, all of it remains ‘un-owned’ open
space. Housing demolition and landscaping in The Nursery in the late 1960s and early 19705 created a large open space that
linked both areas, all maintained by Wear Valley DC. Community recreational use, always present before, flourished.

1994-2006

In 1994 one of the abjectors to registration, whose land lies adjacent to both areas, and who has a vehicular access {for
domestic vehicles) directly onto Front Street from his property, tried to create a vehicular access through The Nursery for
domestic, caravans and commercial (scrap metal) vehicles. The matter was resolved after local protest and police action by
fences being erected, one of which enclosed an area of Nursery land which a local builder, Steven Robinson (who owned a small
part of the land there) sought to claim by adverse possession. Mr Robinson's fence left a narrow pedestrian gap between the
two areas but prevented vehicular access to The Nursery. Recreational use of The Nursery and Fleece land continued. (see
Google Earth image 2001 below). In 2006, close to the expiry of the adverse possession claim, Mr Robinson's fence was torn
down by objectors to the claim, assisted by one of the current objectors. A Land Tribunal subsequently awarded the land to Mr
Robinson, who then gained planning permission for two houses.

2006-2013

With Mr Robinson's fence down, the objectors to registration created a vehicular access through The Nursery from their land,
actually cutting across the corner of Mr Robinson's land. (see Google Earth image 2006 below) In an attempt to establish some
recognition of community ownership and use of the Fleece and Nursery land, and the Cameron's Caution having lapsed, the
Woest Auckland Parish Council (WAPC) placed a Caution on both areas with the Land Registry. In 2009 matters were made
worse when the objectors fenced off The Nursery land in an attempt to claim some sort of ‘ownership’ — an elderly resident
was even prevented from getting to her own back yard. Mr Armstrong also placed a Caution on The Nursery land. Since 2006
unauthorised vehicular use of The Nursery access by the objectors has been extensive, with the Fleece access also used, but
limited by narrow entry onto Front Street. Usual vehicle movement by the objectors, their family and friends, are in
the region of at least 15-20 a day. The Nursery access has allowed cars, vans, lorries, even a double-decker
bus(!) to gain access to the Fleece land and the objectors’ property. The objectors have used the Fleece and
Nursery land as an extension of their own rear yard area for the transfer of scrap vehicles (on one occasion,
three lorries and three vans exchanging old cars), horse grazing, industrial waste bonfires (including fridges) and
recently an assembly of their cars, prior to undertaking antisocial activity, prompted an armed police response
unit on the Fleece land, all in front of local children. Local joy riders use the Fleece land for spinning their cars
on, before racing through The Nursery. Residential caravans have been brought onto the land (by others) for
months at a time. Police and DCC enforcement officers have been regularly involved in incidents.

The Village Green application

Following all this antisocial activity on community land, local resident protests led to a 2010 meeting with DCC legal officers,
that concluded with them recommending that the Parish Council pursue village green registration. The WAPC application for
village green registration was submitted in 2011 with over 20 witness statements from local residents attesting recreational use
of the land from as far back as 1926. Before the Inquiry, in an effort ¢ lish common ground with the Objectors, after a
joint meeting with solicitors, the Parish Council drew up a draft deed by which the objectors would relinguish their claim to The
Nursery access if they could maintain the Fleece access to Front Street for domestic vehicles only. This was provisionally
agreed by both parties but put ‘on hold' pending the Inquiry.

The Inquiry Inspector’s recommendation
The Inquiry Inspector was required to examine the extent to which the land was used for community purposes over the past
twenty years (1991-201 1) and whether chat use was still continuing. Her report concluded thac the level of communipaEivigs



was not that intense to be able to recommend registration, noting that since 1994 (when grass cutting ceased on Fleece land)
and especially since 2006 (when commercial and domestic vehicles were cutting through and using both areas) the land was
hardly conducive to community use, i.e. by implication, the objectors use had prevented recreational activity by others.

Since the Inspector’s report was received the Parish Council has met with County Council officers representing planning,
conservation and enforcement as well as the local police (who have logged significant numbers of incidents on this land). Their
comments and support left us in no doubt that all of them would welcome the prospect of the land being taken into the hands
of a responsible body who would restore the landscaping, improve the conservation area, re-establish residents’ amenities and
allow community use to take place again.

If the Inspector’s view is upheld, it will reward the objectors for their antisocial use of the land, which has
prevented its long-established community use continuing. The Parish Council feels very strongly that this is
simply a matter of right and wrong. We urge members to register this land.

West Auckland Parish Council, 4 February 2014

Imagery Date: AR27{ 2000

2001 2006
Little vehicular movement, good green space. Fence removed, vehicles and caravans on land

2009
Higbaaafﬁspovement. grass loss, industrial bonfire Proposed landscaping scheme



WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 7

Post-Inquiry correspondence from Objectors

Page 135



Laura Renaudon

From: P ARMSTRONG <quuillERRim
Sent: 25 February 2014 15:55

To: Laura Renaudon

Subject: ref.LR/NL36

Application to register the Fleece and the Nursery as a Town or Village
Green

In conclusion to our objection, that was fully heard by the Inspector who ruled to reject
for village green as it states in her report the criteria was not met by the Parish
Council, we wish for our objection to stand against granting village green status for the
following points:-

1. We were successful in our application to put a Caution on the Nursery piece of
land that we have travelled over now for 25 years, by providing all relevant information

to prove our claim of use to the Land Registry {1989 - present) This route is from
the rear of our garden through the nursery leading out onto Station Road.

2. The road through the nursery is over 60feet wide, and to our knowledge there has
never been any incidents / accidents.

3. The other access we use that leads out from the rear of our garden to Front Street
and is used by ourselves and the other residents in the Street.

This while reading the Parish case does not seem to be an issue only the fact that
we also use the Nursery end and we have used both for the same length of time.

I would conclude by saying that we will attend the meeting if you could please advise of
Venue, time and date.

Yours Sincerely

Abel & Pauline Armstrong
Joanne & JohnPaul CILff

27 & 26a Front Street (Respectively)

West Auckland
Co. Durham DL14 9HW

Page 136



WEST AUCKLAND: FLEECE & NURSERY

APPENDIX 8

Correspondence from the local MP and Lord Foster

Page 137



¥ HELEN GOODMAN MP e

X = : ) o Temdals .
T anding up for all in the Bishop Auckland Constituency | B Cante

Laura Renaudon
Planning & Development
Durham County Council
County Hall

Durham

DH15UL

11 February 2014

Dear Ms Renaudon

| am writing in support of the application for village green status for land in West Auckland known
locally as ‘The Nursery’.

The land in question is undoubtedly a community asset and as such should be afforded the status of
a village green.

| have met with Parish Councillors from West Auckland and it is clear that there is widespread local
support for this application which will allow a much loved part of the village to be brought back into
a fitting condition and give back rightful public access.

Not only is it a very nice spot it has been completely spoilt in recent years by some residents who
have illegally occupied it and used it for business and other activities. Since 2006, 23 incidents of ant-
social behaviour have been recorded here. Indeed on one occasion the armed response unit of the
police had to be called out.

This is why | think the criticism made by the “independent panel” that it hadn’t been in continuous
use was completely unreasonable. No-one in their right mind would let their children play where
they might be at risk or in danger. Moreover | think it’s important that the council support law
abiding members of the community and do not inadvertently incentivise anti-social activities.

Yours sincerely

Ul Co'zn)m

Helen Goodman
Member of Parliament for Bishop Auckland
shadow Minister for Culture, Creative industries and Communication

AT, Commons 0207213 4346 W e
ns 219 4346 (Westminster) goodmanh@parliament.uk
London SW1A 0AA 01388 603075 (Constituency) www.helengoodman.co.uk



Councillor Geraldine Bleasdale
Chairman of Highways Committee
Durham County Council

County Hall

Durham

DHI1 5UL

5th, February 2014

Dear Councillor Bleasdale

PROPOSED REGISTRATION OF THE FLEECE AND NURSERY LAND,
WEST AUCKLAND AS VILLAGE GREEN

1 am writing to lend my support to West Auckland Parish Council in their application to
register the Fleece and Nursery land as village green.

This area of open land has been, until recently, in constant use for decades as a
recreational space for local residents. Regrettably over the past eight years the actions of a
minority seeking to take ownership of this land have so blighted the land that such
communal use has been severely restricted, and it was this decline in use that clearly
influenced the Inquiry inspector in her recommendation.

It seems quite obvious that to deny registration simply rewards those who have sought to
extinguish the community use of the land. The Parish Council are keen to establish
registration and have funds reserved to undertake a community-based restoration of the
land. I welcome their initiative and perseverance in this matter, and would urge your
committee to support registration.

Yours sincerely

A -

The Rt. Hon the Lord Foster of Bishop Auckland DL

COPIES TO:
Ms Laura Renaudon, Solicitor, Planning & Development, Durham County Council,
1-135, County Hall, Durham DH1 5UL laura.renaudon@durham.gov.uk

Ms Sharon Wootton, Clerk to West Auckland Parish Council, 20 Loweswater Grove,
West Auckland, Bishop Auckland, Co Durham DL14 9NA  sharon.home@btinternet.com

Page 139



This page is intentionally left blank

Page 140



	Agenda
	4 Village Green Registration West Auckland: Fleece & Nursery - Report of Head of Legal and Democratic Services
	appendix 1
	appendix 2
	appendix 3
	Appendix 4
	appendix 5
	appendix 6
	appendix 7
	appendix 8


